THE PARENTS AS TEACHERS PROGRAM IN MISSOURI AND THE RESULTING DIFFERENCE IN ACADEMIC EFFECTS FOR FIFTH- AND SIXTH-GRADE STUDENTS by

Jill Mayes Arnold Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment Of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Education

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA

May, 2012

APPROVED BY:

Karen Parker, EdD, Dean of School of Education, Committee Chair

Roger Stiles, EdD, Assistant Professor, Committee Member

Julie Jackson Albee, PhD, Professor of Education, Committee Member

ABSTRACT

Jill Mayes Arnold. THE PARENTS AS TEACHERS PROGRAM IN MISSOURI AND THE RESULTING DIFFERENCE IN ACADEMIC EFFECTS FOR FIFTH- AND SIXTH-GRADE STUDENTS. (Under the direction of Dr. Karen Parker, Dean of Education) School of Education, Liberty University, May, 2012.

Due to No Child Left Behind legislation, state education officials are increasing programs and funding for early childhood interventions. Missouri's Parents as Teachers Program (PAT) is one such program that works to increase students' academic achievement in school and on standardized tests. This study explored one Missouri school district's academic achievement for current fifth- and sixth-grade students on the kindergarten entry screening, the Developmental Indicators for the Assessment of Learning Third Edition (DIAL-3), and the Missouri Assessment Program's (MAP) third and fourth grade Communication Arts test. The research employed a causal-comparative research design that matched 89 PAT participants with 89 non-PAT participants on three designated characteristics. Two-tailed *t* tests with a 0.05 alpha level were utilized in the analysis of this study. The results of this study found that PAT participants did score higher on all of the assessments, but the score difference between PAT participants and the non-PAT participants was not significant.

Descriptors: early childhood education, Parents as Teachers Program, preschool intervention, Missouri.

Dedication Page

I dedicate this dissertation to my husband, Todd, and my two wonderful boys, Connor and Jay. Without their unending support and patience through this process, I would never have succeeded in completing this dissertation.

I also want to thank my parents for their guidance in my educational endeavors and as my educational sounding board throughout my life. A special thanks to my mother for endless phone calls and emails to help me think through this research! My parents-in-law and many other people have also given their time and effort to allow me to finish my research on this project.

I want to thank Dr. Julie Albee and Dr. Amanda Szapkiw for pushing me through this process and never losing faith that I could complete this study. I also want to thank Dr. Parker for her constant faith and support during this paper. Thank you, Dr. Stiles for your insight and positive outlook on this endeavor.

My last dedication for this dissertation is to my Lord, Jesus Christ. My faith in Jesus has been guiding me throughout my career in education. He has known where I belonged in the world, and even though I fought being a teacher, I know God has led me to this place.

Table of Contents

| Dedication Page | 3 |
|--|---|
| List of Tables | 8 |
| List of Figures | 9 |
| CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION10 | 0 |
| Background | 0 |
| Problem Statement | 5 |
| Purpose Statement | 6 |
| Significance of the Study1 | 7 |
| Research Questions | 8 |
| Research Hypotheses | 9 |
| Null Hypotheses | 0 |
| Definition of Terms | 0 |
| Parents as Teachers (PAT) Program | 0 |
| Home Visits in the PAT Model | 1 |
| Developmental Indicators for the Assessment of Learning 3 (DIAL-3) 2 | 1 |
| Missouri Assessment Program (MAP) Test | 1 |
| Parents as Teachers Participants | 2 |
| Overview of the Methodology | 2 |

| Summary | 23 |
|---|----|
| CHAPTER TWO: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE | 24 |
| Theoretical Framework | 24 |
| Legislation Impacting Early Childhood Education | 27 |
| Economic Opportunity Act | 28 |
| No Child Left Behind | 28 |
| Two-Generation Early Childhood Interventions | 32 |
| Family Intervention | 33 |
| Academic Success | 36 |
| Pros and Cons for Early Childhood Interventions | 36 |
| Three Approaches to Learning | 42 |
| Creation, Implementations, and Studies on the Parents as Teachers Program | 43 |
| The PAT Curriculum Approach | 46 |
| The Home Visit | 48 |
| Group Meetings | 50 |
| Developmental Screenings | 51 |
| Resource Network | 52 |
| Summary | 53 |
| CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY | 55 |
| Introduction | 55 |

| Participants |
|-----------------------------|
| Setting |
| PAT Program |
| Instrumentation |
| Procedures |
| Research Design |
| Data Analysis |
| Summary |
| CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS |
| Assumption Testing |
| Normality Testing |
| Levene's Test |
| Results71 |
| Results of Hypothesis One |
| Results of Hypothesis Two74 |
| Results of Hypothesis Three |
| Results Summary |
| CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION |
| Summary of the Findings |
| Research Question One |

| Research Question Two | 82 |
|---|-----|
| Research Question Three | 83 |
| Assumptions and Limitations | 84 |
| Discussion | 87 |
| Implications and Recommendations | 88 |
| Conclusion | 89 |
| REFERENCES | 90 |
| APPENDIX A: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL | 110 |
| APPENDIX B: EAGLE SCHOOL DISTRICT APPROVAL | 111 |

List of Tables

| Table 4.1 Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test of Normality | 70 |
|---|----|
| Table 4.2 Descriptive Statistics for DIAL-3 Composite Scores | 74 |
| Table 4.3 Descriptive Statistics for 5 th and 6 th Graders on the 3 rd Grade MAP | |
| Communication Arts Test | 75 |
| Table 4.4 Descriptive Statistics for 5 th and 6 th Graders on the 4 th Grade MAP | |
| Communication Arts Test | 77 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1: Histogram of DIAL-3 Scores for PAT and non-PAT 5 th and 6 th Grade |
|---|
| Students72 |
| Figure 2: Boxplots for DIAL-3 Scores for PAT and non-PAT participants for 5 th and 6 th |
| graders73 |
| Figure 3: Histogram for PAT and non-PAT 5 th and 6 th Grade Students on the 3 rd Grade |
| MAP Communication Arts Test76 |
| Figure 4: Histogram for PAT and non-PAT 5 th and 6 th Grade Students on the 4 th Grade |
| MAP Communication Arts Test78 |

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

With the implementation of the No Child Left Behind Law of 2001, early childhood education became an emphasized area for academic intervention. Due to the short amount of time school districts have until students reach the third grade requirement of all students reading on grade level, many states implemented statewide early childhood programs (Gormley & Gayer, 2005, Gormley, Phillips, & Gayer, 2008, Iowa Department of Education, 2011). This quantitative causal-comparative study examined the universal early childhood intervention, the Parents as Teacher Program (PAT), in one school district in the state of Missouri. This dissertation provided a comparison of current fifthand sixth-grade students who participated in the PAT Program with those who did not participate in the PAT Program on their academic achievement on the Developmental Indicators for the Assessment of Learning Third Edition (DIAL-3) entry tests and their third and fourth grade Missouri Assessment Program (MAP) Communication Arts scores.

Background

Historically, early childhood education has been an avenue to educating young children. The need to equalize academic skills in children before the child entered school empowered educators to intervene with educational measures in the early years of a child's life in the United States beginning in the 1880s (Beatty, 1995). The first early education programs involved children who were economically disadvantaged, lacked formal schooling and parental involvement, and had mothers who entered the workforce (Beatty, 1995; Kamerman & Gatenio, 2003). Preschool was born in the United States with this initiative in the 1880s.

The United States continued preschools, kindergartens, and nursery schools to enhance the lives of young children. In the 1920s, there was a significant increase in early child care due to more people in the middle-class in the United States (Beatty, 1995). Early childhood programs also saw another significant boost in enrollment during World War I and World War II when many more mothers joined the workforce (Beatty, 1995).

In the Elementary and Secondary Act of 1965, the Head Start mandate was the first federal initiative to tie federal funds to a preschool program. The focus of this preschool mandate was to include comprehensive interventions for each child to impact every participant's well-being as children and as adults. In a social context, preschools gave children assistance in socially cooperating and learning with their peers in the early childhood environment. Children needed support in their learning through first acquiring speech and then concepts from more trained or knowledgeable individuals within the children's zone of proximal development (ZPD) (Vygotsky, 1978). A second purpose of federal legislation was to increase the academic and social performances of children who came from low socioeconomic backgrounds to the level of academic and social performances of children from middle to high-socioeconomic backgrounds before entering elementary school (McWayne, Green, & Fantuzzo, 2009; United States of Representatives, 2003; Zigler & Valentine, 1979).

In the last twenty years to the present, national mandates of Goals 2000 (1994) and No Child Left Behind (2008) pressured schools to academically perform in order to receive federal funds. No Child Left Behind states that all children be proficient in reading and math by the end of third grade (NCLB, 2008). To meet the demands of NCLB (2008), schools are seeking more interventions in early childhood to close the achievement gap to meet these high criteria.

The No Child Left Behind Law (2008) challenges educators to prepare students to be proficient in reading with only four years of elementary school to instruct and support children to be reading on grade level. School districts are looking to universal preschool interventions that are not only cost effective to achieve the mandates of No Child Left Behind (2008), but have sustained academic effects on academic achievement throughout school (Gormley & Gayer, 2005). For 25 years, the Parents as Teachers Program (PAT) has been operating in Missouri and has been studied at the state level (Zigler, Pfannenstiel, & Seitz, 2008). By studying the program at the school district level, administrators in the Eagle School District (a pseudonym for this study) can evaluate the effectiveness of the services provided by the PAT Program. With state and local officials cutting funds in school budgets, it is important that programs affecting sustained academic change are kept and utilized by educators to meet federal standards and to facilitate children in their learning process. By completing this study, administrators at the Eagle School District will have an evaluation of the sustained academic impact of their PAT Program. A positive academic achievement was found from participation in the program, but the positive change was not significant. It will be up to administrators in the Eagle School District to decide if local funds should be used to support the monetary cuts to the PAT Program from the state of Missouri from the non-significant results found in this study.

Evaluating the Missouri PAT program at the state level began in 1989 with a study of the first four sites to implement the program (Pfannenstiel & Seltzer, 1989). The

purpose of the quasi-experimental study was to measure the effects of the program on three-year-olds. After completion of the study, the PAT Program was shown to have a significant, positive, direct increase in intellectual, achievement, language, and social capabilities of three-year-olds who participated in the PAT Program versus the non-PAT group (Pfannenstiel & Seltzer, 1989). A second wave study and the longitudinal followup to the second wave study showed that PAT participants scored significantly higher on an achievement measure, the School Entry Profile, than the norms on the assessments (Pfannensteil, Lambson, & Yarnell, 1991; Pfannenstiel, Lambson, & Yarnell, 1996).

School districts use school readiness screenings to identify children with potential delays and to ascertain academic potential for incoming kindergarten students (Kagan, 2003; Shepard, 1997). These screenings also evaluate the effectiveness of early childhood programs (Kagan, 2003). Professionals in early childhood education created a school readiness assessment, the School Entry Profile, for the PAT studies (Pfannenstiel, Seitz, & Zigler, 2003; Zigler, Pfannenstiel, & Seitz, 2008). This assessment was a survey that was completed by each child's kindergarten teacher and could only be used for statewide scoring purposes as a reliable or valid instrument, but could not be used as a reliable or valid instrument for individual or school-level assessments (Pfannenstiel et al., 2003; Zigler et al., 2008). The school readiness assessment, the School Entry Profile, for both the second wave and the follow-up study was a researcher-constructed teacher observation evaluation that utilized the concepts emerging from national legislation to assess certain content and performance standards in language and mathematics (Pfannenstiel et al., 1991; Pfannenstiel et al., 1996).

The impact of the PAT Program on school readiness has also been studied in Missouri's state PAT program. Using a school readiness assessment at kindergarten entry, researchers found that students who participated in the PAT Program in low and high poverty schools scored higher on the MAP Communication Arts assessment than children who had no PAT intervention or had only a preschool intervention without the PAT Program (Pfannenstiel, et al., 2003). The use of the MAP test indicated the sustained effect of the PAT program in participants. The findings from the study illustrated that the most significant predictor of third grade achievement was the participants' scores on the School Entry Profile assessment at kindergarten entry (Zigler, Pfannenstiel, & Seitz, 2008).

To further knowledge about academic change from participation in the PAT Program, a standardized benchmark for early childhood academic achievement, the Developmental Indicators for the Assessment of Learning Third Edition (DIAL-3), was included in the study. The DIAL-3 is different from the School Entry Profile in assessing kindergarten students, because the DIAL-3 is a valid and reliable school readiness assessment that can be used with individual students. "The DIAL–3 is a standardized test that assesses motor, language and conceptual skills related to school readiness. These skills are considered the foundation of academic learning and are related to success in the classroom" (Brotman et al., 2011, p. 265). The DIAL-3 is an assessment with specific questions and a script used by trained professionals to assess preschool students (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998; Spagnola, 2009). The School Entry Profile is a teacher-rated assessment with 65 questions on each child's ability (DESE, 1999). The DIAL-3 is an interactive assessment that utilizes activities that children complete with oral or physical movement while they are scored by a trained DIAL-3 test administrator (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998).

To effectively study the PAT Program at the district level, a quasi-experimental causal-comparative design was used to determine if current fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the PAT Program in the Eagle School District acquire higher scores on the school readiness screening, the DIAL-3 composite score, and the third and fourth grade MAP Communication Arts tests. To account for threats to validity, the PAT participants were paired with non-PAT participants on three factors: socioeconomic status, gender, and ethnicity.

Problem Statement

Schools in the United States are trying to meet the No Child Left Behind of 2001 (2008) standard of each child reading on grade level by the end of third grade and for academic achievement to continue through the student's school career. In Missouri, school districts are trying to find interventions before third grade that positively raise reading competency. Research-proven interventions that can support further literacy achievement need to be identified by schools. One research study exists on the positive educational outcomes achieved by students on the third grade Communication Arts MAP test who participated in the Parents as Teachers Program (Zigler et al., 2008).

Local school districts are struggling with smaller education budgets. The Parents as Teachers Program has experienced severe cuts from \$34 million in 2009 to \$16 million projected for 2012-2013 fiscal year (Office of Administration (OA), 2009; OA, 2010; OA, 2011; OA, 2012). Local support for the program may need to be implemented by school districts if the districts want to continue to use the program. Therefore, it is important to examine the impact on academic achievement from the Eagle School District's Parents as Teachers Program to certify that participants in the program have benefitted from the intervention.

Reliable and valid research must be conducted on programs to evaluate their effectiveness within school districts. Using standardized measures and assessments in research allows significant academic achievement to be identified in education programs. Research has shown that an important measure of early childhood programs is school readiness assessments. School readiness assessments are also a predictor of future achievement in school. While research exists on the PAT Program's academic improvements from participants as shown on school readiness exams and the Communication Arts MAP test, further research that uses standardized measures on school readiness and illustrates the sustained academic effect of the program is needed (Pfannenstiel & Seltzer, 1989; Pfannenstiel et al., 1991; Pfannenstiel et al., 1996; Pfannenstiel et al., 2003; Zigler et al., 2008).

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this causal-comparative study was to establish whether or not a significant difference exists between DIAL-3 composite scores, a standardized school readiness measure, and the third and fourth grade MAP Communication Arts assessments, a literacy achievement exam, for current fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program as compared to those students who did not participate in Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program. To compare these students in academic achievement, students who did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as

Teachers Program were matched on socioeconomic status, gender, and ethnicity with participating PAT participants.

Significance of the Study

The findings from this study did not prove to be statistically significant, but the research conducted will add to the literature on the academic achievement of students who participate in Parents as Teacher Program in the state of Missouri. The only researchers who have quantitatively evaluated the PAT program in terms of academic achievement using state standards are the researchers Zigler, Pfannenstiel, Seltzer, and Seitz (Pfannenstiel & Seltzer, 1989; Pfannenstiel et al., 1991; Pfannenstiel et al., 1996; Pfannenstiel et al., 2003; Zigler et al., 2008). These researchers were subsidized by the state of Missouri's Education Department for their research (Zigler et al., 2008). This study was conducted by an independent researcher not subsidized by the state of Missouri.

The research findings were significant to the field of education because they quantifiably measured the PAT participants on third and fourth grade Communication Arts scores on the MAP. Building on the 2008 study's (Zigler et al., 2008) use of the third grade MAP Communication Arts assessment, this research included the fourth grade Communication Arts MAP scores for two classes of students. This fourth grade assessment was added to evaluate the sustained literacy effect of the Eagle School District's Parents as Teachers Program.

By implementing a standardized kindergarten entry assessment, the Developmental Indicators for the Assessment of Learning Third Edition (DIAL-3), the study employed a nationally used and standardized measure of academic achievement (Brotman et al., 2011; Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998). Previous PAT research only used the School Entry Profile for a school readiness indicator, and this assessment is only valid and reliable when used in a statewide study (DESE, 1999; Pfannenstiel et al., 2003; Zigler et al., 2008). The DIAL-3 is an assessment that is used in many school districts to individually assess a child's school readiness before school entry. Applying the DIAL-3 assessment to this study aided the Eagle School District in evaluating previous preschool knowledge on children who participated in the PAT program and children who did not participate in the PAT Program. The findings from this study could also help other school districts analyze progress made from students enrolled in the PAT program at their respective schools.

The research has merit to the education community. With the increased pressure from mandates such as No Child Left Behind (2008), educators must close the achievement gap by the end of third grade. Students must be reading on grade level by 2014.

Research Questions

Three research questions were proposed:

- Do currently enrolled fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program show a significant difference on the school readiness screening, the DIAL-3 composite score, when compared to fifth- and sixth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program?
- Do currently enrolled fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program show a significant difference on the 3rd

grade MAP Communication Arts test when compared to fifth- and sixth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program?

3. Do currently enrolled fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program show a significant difference on the 4th grade MAP Communication Arts test when compared to fifth- and sixth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program?

Research Hypotheses

The research hypotheses were the following:

- H1: There will be a statistically significant difference in DIAL-3 composite scores for fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the Eagle Parents as Teacher participants when compared to fifth- and sixth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program.
- H2: There will be a statistically significant difference in third grade MAP Communication Arts scores for fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the Eagle Parents as Teacher participants when compared to fifth- and sixth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program.
- H3: There will be a statistically significant difference in fourth grade MAP Communication Arts scores for fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the Eagle Parents as Teacher participants when compared to fifth- and sixth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program.

Null Hypotheses

To achieve the purposes of this study, three null hypotheses were proposed:

- H1: There will be no statistically significant difference in DIAL-3 composite scores for fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the Eagle Parents as Teacher participants when compared to fifth- and sixth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program.
- H2: There will be no statistically significant difference in third grade MAP Communication Arts test composite scores for fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the Eagle Parents as Teacher participants when compared to fifth- and sixth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program.
- H3: There will be no statistically significant difference in fourth grade MAP
 Communication Arts test composite scores for fifth- and sixth-grade students
 who participated in the Eagle Parents as Teacher participants when compared
 to fifth- and sixth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle's
 Parents as Teachers Program.

Definition of Terms

Parents as Teachers (PAT) Program

The Parents as Teachers (PAT) Program started in Missouri in 1985 (Parents as Teachers National Center, 2010). PAT is a volunteer program that is implemented in the state of Missouri by local school districts (DESE, 2010b). Parents with children age prenatal through school age are eligible to participate in the PAT Program. The PAT Program includes home visits, group meetings, screening, and resource connections for parents (Parents as Teachers National Center, 2010).

Home Visits in the PAT Model

Home visits in the PAT Program are sessions with the parent educator, parent, and child that last 45 to 60 minutes and are held in the home or another agreed upon location (Parents as Teacher National Center, 2010). The home visits are conducted by a trained parent educator for the PAT program. These visits utilize the PAT curriculum for the child's age. The visits include a parent-child activity, developmental information on the child, and a literacy component (Parents as Teachers National Center, 2010).

Developmental Indicators for the Assessment of Learning 3 (DIAL-3)

The DIAL-3 is a preschool screening that assesses the areas of motor, concepts, language, self-help, and social development (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998). The assessment is one that teachers and other professionals can administer after receiving training. The DIAL-3 utilizes percentile rank to assess children age three years zero months to six years and eleven months (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998). Subscales from motor, concepts, and language are calculated to form the DIAL Composite Total (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998).

Missouri Assessment Program (MAP) Test

The MAP test is a standardized assessment created by the Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education Department (DESE) and CTB McGraw-Hill (DESE, 2000). The assessments for Communication Arts for the MAP are administered yearly at third grade through eighth grade and at the eleventh grade in Missouri School Districts (Webb, 2006). The assessments include multiple choice, constructed responses, and performance events. The multiple choice portions of the MAP are based on the nationally normed assessment, the *Terra Nova* (DESE, 2000).

Parents as Teachers Participants

For this study, students who received five or more visits from a parent educator during their preschool years in the Parents as Teachers Program are identified to be in the PAT participant group. The rationale for choosing five visits to mark participation in the PAT participant group is that five visits are paid for yearly by the Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education for each PAT family.

Overview of the Methodology

In the state of Missouri, all families with preschoolers have the opportunity through the local school district to receive the early childhood intervention, the Parents as Teachers Program. For this causal-comparative study, current fifth- and sixth-graders at the Eagle School District were separated into two groups: students who experienced the Eagle's PAT Program and students who did not experience the Eagle's PAT Program. These two groups of fifth- and sixth-graders who participated in PAT and fifth- and sixth-graders who did not participate in PAT were the independent variables for the completed study. A composite score on the DIAL-3 and scores on the third and fourth grade MAP Communication Arts assessment were the dependent variables in the study. Analysis for the study was three *t* tests of independent means to calculate if there was a significant difference in the means on test scores between the PAT participants and those who did not participate in PAT (Zhang, 2009). Assumption testing was completed prior to *t* test analysis and SPSS was used for the analysis in the study.

Summary

Due to the mandate that all children read on grade level by the end of third grade from NCLB, many school districts are reviewing intervention programs in preschool and elementary school that effect academic achievement. School districts must implement research-proven programs that positively affect literacy. The purpose of this causalcomparative study was to evaluate if children from Eagle's Public Schools who participate in the Parents as Teachers Program have higher scores on the DIAL-3 composite and MAP Communication Arts tests as compared to Eagle's Public School students who do not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program. Eighty-nine pairs of current fifth- and sixth-graders from the Eagle School District were used as the participants in the study. The study controlled for extraneous influences on achievement by pairing students in a PAT group and a non-PAT group. Chapter two examines literature associated with the study, such as incorporating aspects of legislation of the Economic Opportunity Act and NCLB, two-generation programs, and types of curriculum. Research studies on the PAT Program are presented. In Chapter Three, the methodology used in this study is discussed. Chapters Four and Five include the findings of this study and the discussion of the findings.

CHAPTER TWO: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

In 1985, when early childhood interventions were not a common practice with many in the United States, the state of Missouri began the Parents as Teachers Program (PATNC, 2010). With the mandate that every school district in the state of Missouri implement prenatal and early childhood education to all parents and children in the school district, a universal preschool intervention was initiated within the state. To review this preschool intervention, literature related to theoretical framework, federal and state preschool initiatives, early childhood two-generation programs in education and interventions, and the evolution and research completed on the PAT Program were examined to establish information and previous research presented on the impact of preschool interventions on later academic achievement.

Theoretical Framework

Social learning is the basis for many early childhood interventions. In social learning, people learn from being around and engaging with other people. Piaget found in *The Moral Judgment of the Child* (1965) that the best way to educate children is "...the method of work by groups (which) consists in allowing the children to follow their pursuits in common, either in organized 'teams' or simply according to their spontaneous groupings" (p. 405). Children learn about social and academic norms from these peer interactions.

In *Mind in Society* (1978), Vygotsky contends that social learning begins at birth by stating, "Learning and development are interrelated from the child's very first day of life." (p.84). Vygotsky (1978) went on to further explain how children engage in learning in social situations. Children learn through their interactions with others how to converse, how to inquire about the world for answers, and how to copy adult expertise in procedures so that they can replicate the actions themselves (Vygotsky, 1978).

The zone of proximal development (ZPD) by Vygotsky is critical to the social learning theory. The ZPD is, "...the distance between the actual development level as determined by independent problem solving and the level of potential development as determined through problem solving under adult guidance or in collaboration with more capable peers" (p. 86). Through participation in preschool intervention activities with more experienced people, children can perform skills at a higher form of competency than if they did the same skills in an individual setting.

Vygotsky (1994) also contends that interactions in learning with young children should be at the child's developmental level. The child can learn with assistance to complete an activity today, so in the future the child will be able to accomplish the task independently. By engaging the child in activities, each child learns how to imitate and then expand the imitation into imaginary play. Though play, children create an activity they want to accomplish with rules attached to the play. It is by way of play that children regulate their own self-control and develop specific capabilities in learning (Vygotsky, 1994).

Using play to develop social language is a vital component to preschool interventions, according to research conducted by Coolahan, Fantuzzo, Mendez, and McDermott (2000). Research on brain development has shown that the growth of language occurs by children using auditory means to processing language, verbally expressing language, and listening to adults speak naturally around the child (Jensen, 2005). Months 19-31 mark the largest expansion in vocabulary for a child, so parents

and teachers must maximize language opportunities for the child.

In the first three years of life, children hear 30 million words in the professional families, 20 million words in the working class families, and 10 million words in the welfare families (Hart & Risley, 1995; Hart & Risley, 2003, p. 198). In one year, the children from professional families also received 166,000 encouragements and 26,000 discouragements while preschoolers from welfare homes received 26,000 encouragements and 57,000 discouragements (Hart & Risley, 1995, p. 199).

Language and parenting practices should be supported in the home or the microsystem according to Bronfenbrenner (1979). In Bronfenbrenner's Theory, a child's development is shaped from direct interactions in the microsystem to interactions between two or more microsystems called the mesosystem. To effect the most change in a child's life, change must occur in the child's microsystem or home (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). A third party who enters the home can strengthen a parent's understanding of parenting skills and model positive expectations in interactions, so that parents feel assured of their abilities in the home. By using this type of social intervention, parents can also have rapport with an expert to empathize and converse about pressing issues or concerns (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). The use of advanced knowledge by trained early childhood educators on child development and parenting skills supports not only the parenting abilities of the parent but also the child's aptitude in development. Children benefit from the interaction, because the parent educator supports the child to perform tasks that they could not perform in an individual setting.

Interactions with caregivers and educators stimulate healthy emotional and social competence that is vital in the first 24 months of development (Siegel, 1999). In order

for children to make appropriate societal responses to people in our culture, caregivers must model positive exchanges with others (Jensen, 2005). When negative responses are represented to children, synaptic pruning may occur, limiting the child's future ability to regulate emotions (Perry, 1997). Research has been inconclusive in determining if emotions can be properly developed after two years of age (Gunnar, 2001).

Social and cognitive development are central in a child's development. Early childhood programs that maximize vital learning periods in a child's life can greatly impact the child and the parent. Thus the social interaction promoted for both parents and children in two-generation early childhood programs allows each party to receive benefits from participating in the program.

The review of the literature explains the types of early childhood interventions in the United States. First the development of federal programs and legislation in Missouri and the United States is discussed. Next longitudinal two-generation programs in the United States and the academic impact those programs had on the participants in the early childhood interventions are presented. Finally, a summary is presented on the Parents as Teachers Program's creation, implementation, research, and curriculum.

Legislation Impacting Early Childhood Education

In education, the state and local government have jurisdiction over what is taught at the local school level. This power is granted by the United States Constitution. In the tenth amendment of the U.S. Constitution, all powers that are not expressly given to the United States government are given to the states to handle (United States Constitution, amend. X). Since education is not mentioned in the United States' Constitution, education is given to the state and local government to administer as the local

government sees fit.

Economic Opportunity Act

In the 1960s, the federal government made monumental changes in education with the Economic Opportunity Act of 1964 and the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965. In these acts, the federal government tied programs in the fields of education and health to funding at the state and local levels. If schools and healthrelated services wanted to receive funds from the federal government, the local school districts had to follow the federal guidelines and implement the programs dictated by the federal government.

In the Economic Opportunity Act of 1965, the United States government legislated funds to implement the creation of universal preschools, called the Head Start Program, for children from low-socioeconomic backgrounds. With the creation of the Head Start program in this proposal, the federal government wanted to give preschoolers a school intervention with qualified teachers so that the low socioeconomic children would be more prepared for their educational experiences (United States of Representatives, 2003). When Head Start was founded in the United States, less than 28% of all preschool age children attended preschools (National Center for Educational Statistics (NCES), 2010).

No Child Left Behind

The legislation of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 was far reaching in education because it was the same act that was revised to give education the current No Child Left Behind (2008) legislation. The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB, 2008) was an extensive law enforced by the federal and state governments. There are four pillars in the NCLB legislation that affect all aspects of early childhood education. The four pillars are: (a) stronger accountability for test results from states and local school districts, (b) schools have adaptable funds that can be used in Title I programs at the school district's discretion, (c) curriculum implemented that has research proven academic success, and (d) more options for parents' placement of children when local schools are performing poorly (United States Department of Education, 2004). Due to the responsibility placed on school districts to be accountable for implementing research-proven programs to effect academic change and to measure these educational gains though state tests, the NCLB mandate has made the need for effective preschool education imperative due to the requirement of children performing on grade level by the end of third grade in literacy.

The first pillar of NCLB established standards that states must create and follow for each grade of instruction and assess those standards through a state-devised assessment (U.S. Department of Education, 2004). NCLB demands that each school district and each state provide an annual report to the federal government on the state assessment scores obtained by each entity. State assessment scores are utilized to create a report card on the Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP) of the state and the local school district. Promotion in fifth-, eighth-, and eleventh-grades are also tied to sufficient scores on the state standardized test (U.S. Department of Education, 2004).

The state assessments in NCLB were devised to quantify progress in a report card to inform citizens and parents about the progress of schools in the country, state, and local area (U.S. Department of Education, 2004). The reports include all children in the school population, including children from ethnic groups, children with various socioeconomic status, and children receiving special services. School districts must have 95% of each subgroup included in the state test reported on the annual report (U.S. Department of Education, 2004).

If AYP is not met by schools on the state's standardized test after eight to nine years of preschool and elementary academic interventions, sanctions are applied to the school. Following the second year that a school has not met AYP, the school is identified as a school that needs improvement, and the school must initiate a plan to enrich student performance at their school. Parents at this time are also given the option for their child to attend another school in the district that has met AYP. If the school does not meet AYP for a third and fourth year, plans for progress and additional supports in education must be made. After five years of not meeting AYP, corrective actions by the state requires one of the following: replace staff in delinquent subjects, provide new educational materials, reduce administration's authority over school, use outside experts to guide instruction, lengthen time students are in school, or reorganize the hierarchy in the school (U.S. Department of Education, 2004).

The second pillar of NCLB allows the states and local schools the ability to choose where federal money is allocated in the schools (U.S. Department of Education, 2004). Educators at the state and local level can decide the parameters for a full academic year, ethnic groups' definitions, what alternate assessments are given to children with special needs, and how the state reports accountability for NCLB. School officials also have flexibility to apportion up to 50% of the federal education funds to items in education that are researched (U.S. Department of Education, 2004). This provision to distribute discretionary funds permits the school district the to spend funds

on preschool and elementary interventions that will effect the most change in literacy education.

Educational programs that use scientifically researched techniques are supported in the third pillar of NCLB (U.S. Department of Education, 2004). If schools fail to meet AYP, the school is to provide interventions for the students to improve academic achievement with research-proven programs (U.S. Department of Education, 2004). The interventions executed in the school district can be for current elementary students and for preschool students in the district. When the school district employs early childhood interventions to promote meeting AYP in the future, the school validates that more contact time in the preschool years supports and facilitates literacy learning.

The last pillar of NCLB allows parents to have choices about their child's education (U.S. Department of Education, 2004). When schools fail to make AYP with changes in curriculum and use of research-proven programs, the school must transport the child to an adequately performing school in the district if the parents request the school change. The school district must pay for the transportation costs to the properly performing school (U.S. Department of Education, 2004). To save future funds in transporting students, schools need to maximize funds in the early years of the child's education so that more expensive education interventions and transportation costs are avoided in the future.

With the end of NCLB set for 2014, educators are looking to the Common Core Standards as the probable future in education. The Common Core Standards have been adopted by 45 states (National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010). Missouri, where the Parents as Teachers Program was started and where the National Center for Parents as Teachers is located, adopted the Common Core Standards in 2010. These standards have been adopted by states because they (a) are aligned with college and work standards, (b) are supported in academic programs used in high performing foreign countries, and (c) have implemented research proven skills. The Common Core State Standards in language arts set high academic achievement goals in reading, writing, speaking and receptive skills, and use of technology (National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010). Due to the continued emphasis on proper literacy performance in elementary school, the need for effective academic preschool interventions will continue with the implementation of the Common Core State Standards.

With the push in education to have all children reading on grade level by third grade, preschool programs must be researched to determine the program's and the teacher's impact on academics to assist schools in the quest to fulfill the directives in The No Child Left Behind Law (Hyun, 2003; Onchwari & Keengwe, 2009). Studies have established that interventions do effect positive academic change in preschoolers when steps are taken to aid parents and teachers in their interactions with young children (Fulmer, 1997; Onchwari & Keengwe, 2009). Programs that involve both the parents and child in knowledge and practical growth have shown positive academic change for the child and an increase in parenting skills.

Two-Generation Early Childhood Interventions

The two-generation early childhood intervention model evolved to meet the needs of not only the child, but also to meet the needs of the child's family (LaForett &

Mendez, 2010). When needs are met in the family by involving parents, child achievement is directly and indirectly affected from the intervention (St. Pierre & Layzer,1999). Two-generation programs are effective in positive academic change when families participate in the program (Fantuzzo, McWayne, Perry, & Childs, 2004a; Marcon, 1999).

Family Intervention

To be effective two-generation programs, the first change must be to impact the family. The Head Start model contains components of parental involvement, comprehensive developmental and health services, and preschool centered literacy (Schweinhart & Weinhart, 1983; Schweinhart & Weinkart, 1997; Zigler & Valentine, 1979). The goal of Head Start was to involve parents in the preschoolers' learning, because children achieve more in schools when their parents are involved in their children's learning at both school and at home (Schweinhart & Weikart, 1997; Zigler & Valentine, 1979). This program was targeted to educate the entire child, so that the child was ready academically and socially for kindergarten entry (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Zigler & Valentine, 1979).

One study that longitudinally tracked the effects of the Head Start Program was the Chicago Child-Parent Center Preschool Project (CPC). In 20 Chicago sites, researchers followed the progress of children who had participated in the Head Start Program [Chicago Longitudinal Study (CLS), 1999; Ou & Reynolds, 2006]. The original sample included 989 children in the CPC program and 550 children who had the opportunity to be in the Head Start CPC program but did not attend (Reynolds et al., 2007). The CPC Program included services for families that included nutritional and health services, home visits with the family, parental involvement at school and home, and an emphasis on language arts skills in the program (Ou & Reynolds, 2006; Reynolds et al., 2007). This intervention indicated positive results for the families who participated in Head Start (Niles, Reynolds, & Roe-Sepowitz, 2008). CPC Program children had significantly higher high school graduation rates and slightly higher college attendance rates than their non-CPC participating peers. Participation in the program compelled more parental involvement in the two-generation program in every component of the preschool intervention (Niles et al., 2008; Schorr & Schoor, 1988). Parents who invested more time in the program were more likely to volunteer time in the early childhood intervention setting and were more receptive to home visits by the CPC teachers (Niles et al., 2008). By targeting both parents and children in the two-generation Head Start Program, every participant demonstrated significantly positive changes in academics, social interactions, and a higher probability for increased family income for the child and the parents.

The rationale behind the North Carolina Abecedarian Preschool Project, a twogeneration early childhood program, was that interventions should be introduced earlier in the life of the child and family, so that the outcomes of the program would be longer lasting for participants (Ramey & Ramey, 1998). This intervention targeted low-income families with children age birth to five years. The program had 112 participants randomly assigned to the Abecedarian intervention or the control group (Campbell, Helms, Sparling, & Ramey, 1998; Ramey & Ramey, 1998). Families gained from the Abecedarian Preschool Project through on-site, all-day, extended child care interventions at no cost for the participating preschool students (Barnett & Masse, 2007). Parents also received support for the preschool intervention through (a) optional participation on the center's advisory board, (b) voluntary parenting workshops, (c) connections to social services, and (d) group activities at the center (Campbell & Ramey, 1994). By providing extra hours for child care, parents made significant financial gains while enrolled in the program, and parents were able to work more hours and save income on child care (Barnett & Masse, 2007). Children from three to thirty-six months also benefitted from the program with higher scores in intelligence quotients (IQ) than non-participating peers (Ramey & Ramey, 1998).

A third two-generation program, the Comprehensive Child Development Program (CCDP), began with grants for 24 sites by the United States Department of Health and Human Services (St. Pierre & Layzer, 1999). This program provided support for lowincome families in education, health, and social services for families with children age birth to school entry. After five years of implementation, the participants showed no significant difference in economic independence or parenting proficiency. Children in the program did show higher scores in cognitive development, achievement test scores, and mental processing tests, but the scores were not significantly different from non-participants. One site in the study did show statistically significant scores in participants' cognitive development and also in the parents' income, and use of federal programs and a positive increase in parents' feelings about education (St. Pierre & Layzer, 1999). Overall, the two-generation preschool interventions have shown a positive impact on participants' lives through early interactions and support to enhance both the parents' and children's development.

35

Academic Success

Studies on Head Start and the Abecedarian Programs evaluated the programs' impact on the children's academic achievement in later grades. A consistent finding among the studies was that participation in the early childhood intervention programs positively affects academic levels in elementary grades and beyond (Currie & Thomas, 1999; McWayne, Green, Fantuzzo, 2009; Reynolds, 2000; Reynolds, Ou, & Topitzes, 2004). The children who participated in CPC showed higher high school graduation rates and higher college attendance rates than the control group in the study (Ou & Reynolds, 2006). The impact of Head Start also affects the academic gap between siblings who participate in Head Start compared with those who do not participate in Head Start (Currie & Thomas, 1999). The Abecedarian program indicated higher IQs, math scores, and reading scores when compared with non-participating Abecedarian peers (Campbell and Ramey, 1994; Ramey & Ramey, 1998). As the Abecedarian children entered college age, they were more likely to attend a four-year college than the control group in the study. Further cost analysis on the program also showed that participants in the Abecedarian Project were more likely to make more money in their lifetime, have children who made more money, and were less likely to smoke than their nonparticipating counterparts in the program (Barnett & Masse, 2007). The two-generation preschool intervention programs, Head Start, the Abecedarian Program, and the CPC Preschool School Program, have consistently shown to significantly increase academic success with participants in their programs.

Pros and Cons for Early Childhood Interventions

When preschool interventions are implemented with children, the benefits and the
negatives from the interactions must be considered before an intervention is put into place. In the early childhood education profession, educators disagree if early childhood interventions should be used and when they should be used with preschool children.

Heckman (2010) cites four specific reasons to intervene in the early years of a child's life: (a) differences in cognitive and non-cognitive aptitude begin to differ in early childhood between different socio-economic levels, (b) key times exist in a child's development when interventions have a more dramatic result, (c) high fiscal profits have been shown with preschool interventions as opposed to interventions in the teen years, and (d) social emotional skills mastery leads to higher reasoning skills (Cunha & Heckman, 2010). Due to the opportunities that early childhood provides to utilize effective interventions, preschool programs related to enhanced literacy skills are key to monetary and academic gains in education.

The process of learning literacy, "...implies a continuum between prereading and reading, in which reading-related activities taking place during the preschool period are essential aspects of the course of literacy development" (Storch & Whitehurst, 2002, p. 934). Researchers have found that children must acquire certain oral language proficiencies, print awareness, and principles of emergent writing before children can move to decoding print (Storch & Whitehurst, 2002). If children are not given opportunities with literacy in the early years of life, those skills must be learned before the child can move on the literacy continuum. Belsky et al. (2005) found that early comprehension skills in preschoolers were directly related to their performance in oral and reading language in elementary school. Early childhood interventions in literacy are focused at the preschool level, so children who participate in these programs will have

more experience and mastery of language before the child enters school, allowing the child to be more equipped to manage the demands for literacy in the elementary classroom.

Participation in early childhood programs improve the child's cognitive skills in the long term and affect school achievement throughout a child's school education (Brooks-Gunn, 2003; Loeb, Bridges, Bassok, Fuller, & Rumberger, 2007; Magnuson, Ruhm, Waldfogel, 2007). Other researchers contend that the academic boost offered through participating in preschool interventions dissipate over the first few years of elementary education (Barnett, 1995; Gilliam & Zigler, 2001). More longitudinal studies need to be completed in order to ascertain the true long term effect on students' achievement through school and life after attending preschool interventions.

Children who do participate in early childhood interventions are more prepared for kindergarten (Andrews & Slate, 2002; Morrison & Bryant, 1998; Taylor, Gibbs, & Slate, 2000; Gullo & Burton, 1992). When children have more opportunity to engage with academic content over a period of time in preschool interventions, the children advance their literacy skills on the literacy continuum. Children who participated in preschool interventions scored higher on state standardized tests than their counterparts who did not participate in the preschool intervention (Gullo & Burton, 1992; Morrison & Bryant, 1998; Reynolds & Temple, 2008). By supporting children with a preschool literacy program, families are provided a partnership in the education of their children.

Supporting parents with home visits and educational information may also lead to a decrease in abuse to children. "Infants and young children are more likely than older children to experience maltreatment" (Child Trends, 2011, p. 2). Due to the demands in care for small children, parents are more likely to be frustrated about the constant needs that must be met in parenting a preschool child. Parents who are shown and given educational methods that simplify and enhance the parenting experience may be less likely to abuse their children. Reynolds, Mathieson, and Topitzes (2009) found that preschool interventions using home visits reduce the rate of child abuse by 31%, but warn that more research should be conducted on the interventions to assure that there is a correlation between lower abuse rates and the preschool interventions.

In preschool interventions, educators use assessments for many different applications. Strand, Cerna, and Skucy (2007) contend that a test should only be used with preschool children when it is clearly focused in a specific area, and it can be clearly tied to an appropriate intervention. Strand et al. (2007) found that interventions in early childhood are ineffective at times because educators must perform many assessments and collect a plethora of data, but the educators do not have time to utilize a connection between the assessments and curriculum implementation (Strand et al., 2007). In many preschool programs, educators are performing assessments due to academic requirements on the program, but teachers are not evaluating each child's progress on the assessments. By failing to adjust curriculum to teach concepts that are absent or have not been met by the students, teachers are only assessing students to accommodate government and school regulations on preschool programs.

Some experts in early childhood education believe that it is not assessment that is important, but the focus of preschool interventions should be targeting services to specific populations as opposed to universally providing the program to all in the community (Reynolds, Temple, Robertson, & Mann, 2002; Reynolds, Temple, White, Ou, & Robertson, 2011). In some studies, preschools have shown the most effectiveness with targeted children in low socio-economic backgrounds (Reynolds, Temple, Robertson, & Mann, 2002; Reynolds, Temple, White, Ou, & Robertson, 2011). Estimates in economic gain for the taxpayer have been approximated between \$5.23 to \$10.15 for every dollar spent in the targeted preschool program (Temple & Reynolds, 2007). To be cost effective in education, some experts contend that targeting preschool services and allocating funds to a high-risk population provides families in low socioeconomic circumstances support with academics.

An educational gap exists between children from low and high socio-economic backgrounds, so some early childhood experts believe it is a better use of resources to pursue only the children from low socio-economic backgrounds (Bridges, Fuller, Rumberger, & Tran, 2004; Reardon, 2003). People from higher social classes are more likely to register their children for private preschool services, and their children have higher attendance rates in preschool interventions (O'Brien-Strain, Moye, & Sonenstein, 2003). Some educators contend that preschool resources are wasted on children from middle to high socio-economic backgrounds, since their parents will purchase education and personally transport their children to an early childhood education site. Parents from middle to high socio-economic families have the means to provide their preschool children with many educational opportunities. So many educators argue that early childhood resources should only be universally delegated to supplement educational programs already utilized by parents in the middle to high socio-economic bracket (Rolnick & Grunewald, 2010).

Other educators believe that universal preschools are the best and most cost

40

effective way to intervene with all children. Loeb, Bridges, Bassok, Fuller, and Rumberger (2007) found that exposure to preschool interventions does benefit children from all socio-economic backgrounds in a positive way. In Georgia and Oklahoma, universal preschool interventions have been in place for several years (Gormley, Gayer, Phillips, & Dawson, 2005). Both of these state programs are universal in nature because they do not target one population or minority group. In Georgia, students in the program scored higher on the state assessment than the national norm for school readiness (Henry, Gordon, Mashburn, & Ponder, 2001). Participants in Oklahoma's program showed higher test scores for children from low, middle, and high socio-economic backgrounds (Gormley et al., 2005). By universally targeting all children in these state programs, children from all socio-economic backgrounds attained positive growth in academic achievement.

Even though numerous research studies support preschool interventions, some researchers oppose child care and early childhood interventions. Several studies have found that children who participate in early childhood programs are more aggressive than children who do not attend (Bracey, 2007; Lamb, 1996; Loeb, Bridges, Bassok, Fuller, & Rumberger, 2007). Other people are opposed to government run preschools. With 80% of the current population attending preschools, some people believe that government interventions in early childhood will limit choice in preschools and limit what preschools can teach (Burke, 2010). The United States government's law of *No Child Left Behind* also has some early childhood educators worried about the mandates in the law. Early childhood educators fear that the mandates in the laws will make preschools into direct instruction schools instead of play-based learning centers (Stipek, 2006). With any

intervention with young children, all advantages and disadvantages should be considered. Academic advantages may occur, but the disadvantages to the learning environment and social adjustment of the child may be too great of a risk to take with the preschool child.

Three Approaches to Learning

Play-based learning in preschool interventions is supported by social theorists, such as Piaget (1932) and Vygotsky (1978). Both theorists contend that a child's best learning environment is with others so that learning can be supported and emulated by others in the environment. By interacting at all levels, the child learns cognitive skills, as well as social and emotional skills. Research conducted on play and its effects on learning in the preschool child shows that regulation of behavior and emotions have been found to predict a child's behavior during a playing task and the method that the child uses to learn (Howse, Calkins, Anastopolous, Keane, & Shelton, 2003; Fantuzzo, Perry, & McDermott, 2004b).

Play-based learning teaches children about mathematics and science ideas through interactions with items in the environment (Sarama & Clements, 2009; Tamis-Lemonda, Uzgiris, & Borenstein, 2002). Embedding certain mathematical concepts and literacy skills in a play-based preschool curriculum allows children the opportunity to have a more enriched experience by using these thoughts in their play (Arnold, Fisher, Doctoroff, & Dobbs, 2002; Singer, 2002; Whyte & Bull, 2008). The play-based learning model has been utilized in many preschool settings and continues to be employed in early childhood interventions rooted in social learning theory as proposed by Vygotsky (1994) and Brofennbrenner (1979).

The whole child approach has been embraced by educators since the 1960s, when

Head Start was introduced to the educational framework. Two of the founders of Head Start, Zigler and Valentine (1979), describe in their book the importance of educating the whole child. Children attending Head Start learn about cognitive items, but deficiencies in social and emotional development, nutrition, and parental involvement were also seen as areas that must be addressed to positively affect a child's development.

There are proponents who believe only cognitive or direct instruction should be utilized with preschool interventions. To use this intervention, teachers instruct the preschool child through traditional means. Children use worksheets and textbooks to indicate understanding of the material covered by an early childhood educator. Since the mandates of NCLB, Head Start, a whole-child program was targeted through assessment and teacher training to change its primary whole child focus to a cognitive preschool intervention (Bishop-Josef & Zigler, 2011). Duncan et al. (2007) found that contrary to other research, the social emotional competency of preschool children does not indicate future achievement in further grades, but early math and literacy skills are predictors of later academic achievement. Educators who support the direct instruction approach in preschool interventions believe that children should be taught content and skills that are needed and assessable in the classroom.

Creation, Implementations, and Studies on the Parents as Teachers Program

In 1981, Missouri developed a program called the Parents as Teachers (PAT) because even with the Head Start Program to prepare children, Missouri educators were encountering many children coming to kindergarten at various levels of school readiness (Parents as Teachers National Center, 2010). Based on the research of White (1971, 1985, 1988) and his theories on child development and early parenting, three central understandings were stated: (a) experiences in the first three years of life greatly determine development throughout one's life; (b) providing support for parents reduces stress, increases satisfaction, and increases opportunities for teaching children; and (c) useful research should be implemented so that parents and educators can use it even though further research still needed to be conducted. To accomplish the goals that White proposed, the PAT program was to include home visits that used the devised *Born to Learn Curriculum*, group meetings, periodic screenings, and resources for the parent. The program was devised as an all-inclusive program for every parent of a child age prenatal through school entry (Parents as Teachers National Center, 2010). In response to the success of the 1981 pilot program for PAT, the program was instituted in every school district in the state of Missouri as a mandatory offering under the Childhood Development Act of 1984 (Pfannenstiel, Lambson, & Yarnell, 1991).

Research on the PAT Program found that parents in the program enjoy the interactions and rapport-building communication that parent educators offer during the home visit (Woolfolk & Unger, 2009). Research also showed that the Missouri PAT program helps prepare children for elementary school. The first study that quantitatively tied PAT program participation to school readiness was by Pfannenstiel, Seitz, and Zigler (2003). The study was replicated in 2006-2007 and extended to include the Missouri PAT program were found to score higher on the Missouri Assessment Program (MAP) test than children who did not participate in the program. This research used a sample of 7,710 children across many different rural, suburban, and urban PAT programs who entered kindergarten from 1998-2000. Children were assessed for academic achievement

at school entry with the Entry School Profile assessment that was created by a panel of early childhood experts. The Entry School Profile has only been validated for reliability for state-wide use, and has not been evaluated for local use by school districts. Children were also assessed by the MAP test at the third-grade level.

Results from the Zigler, Pfannenstiel, and Seitz (2008) study indicated that children who entered kindergarten with high scores on the Entry Profile predicted high scores on the MAP in third grade. The research also showed that length of time in the program influenced high academic achievement. Children from low socioeconomic backgrounds who participated in the PAT program had almost equal scores to children from non-impoverished backgrounds with no PAT intervention.

A qualitative research study that may relate to this study is on the effectiveness of the PAT home visits. This study found that participants in the PAT Program did have consistent home visits implemented by parent educators, but the home visits did not address parenting behaviors (Hebbeler & Gerlach-Downie, 2002). In Hebbeler and Gerlach-Downie's research (2002), they found that home visits did little to change parents and their actions in parenting. Another finding in the study was that parent educators did not emphasize the interactions between parents and their children and this limited the educational impact of the program (Hebbler & Gerlach-Downie, 2002). The PAT curriculum does stress that parent educators be sensitive concerning culture and values with parents and their parenting skills. Parent educators are to focus on a family's strengths and not impose their values of parenting on the families they visit in the program (Albrecht, Haffner, & Kostelc, 2005).

45

A second qualitative study was conducted on the PAT Program and found that African American mothers benefitted from the program (Woolfolk & Unger, 2009). Mothers in the study were asked open-ended questions about their relationship with the parent educator and if their interaction during PAT visits met the needs of the family. The research also indicated that parent educators should be selected to fit the requirements of the families they serve (Woolfolk & Unger, 2009).

PAT research has also been conducted on other minority groups. Latinos and teen mothers were targeted in California's implementation of the Parents as Teachers Program (Wagner & Clayton, 1999). This research showed that participation in the Parents as Teachers Program allowed parents and children to benefit from the early childhood intervention. Children demonstrated more advanced development in social, emotional, and cognitive development than the control group in the study. When the PAT Program was also paired with other social services, significant growth in the child's cognitive ability was noted and the parents also showed a non-significant increase in a sense of confidence (Wagner & Clayton, 1999). The gains were small throughout the entire population in the program, but large increases were noted through implementing the PAT Program with non-English speaking Latino families.

The PAT Curriculum Approach

One of the top values in the Parents as Teachers Program is that, "Parents are their children's first and most influential teachers" (PATNC, 2010). A second foundation of the Missouri program is that all parents deserve the right to parental support if they choose to have the support. Each participant is viewed as a family that possesses strengths in parenting prior to PAT visits. Every home visit and group meeting in the

PAT Program is based on the Born to Learn Curriculum (Albrecht et al., 2005).

When the *Born to Learn Curriculum* was updated in 2005, the focus on the home visit was literacy, brain research, and social-emotional development (Albrecht et al., 2005). The changes in the curriculum were completed due to new research on how a child's brain develops in the first few years of life. Albrecht et al. (2005) collaborated with neuroscientists from Washington University School of Medicine in St. Louis. This partnership converted neuroscience results into concrete applications for parents and parent educators to use on the home visit.

Social-emotional interactions have always been a part of the PAT's *Born to Learn Curriculum* (2005). The PAT Program has held the understanding that building attachment is critical to the parent-child bond in the early years of life. In the 2005 revision of the *Born to Learn Curriculum*, more emphasis to social-emotional development through literature and parent-child activities was added to the curriculum. This change was due to research on social-emotional attachment and the effects on children (Albrecht et al., 2005).

Studies on the *Born to Learn Curriculum*, since the update in 2005, have shown that the curriculum does effect change in children (Drotar, Robinson, Jeavons, & Kirchner, 2008). According to Drotar et al. (2008), children who participated in the *Born to Learn Curriculum* showed higher abilities to problem solve than others not receiving the *Born to Learn Curriculum*. Problem solving in this study included children exhibiting determination, enjoyment, and proficiency in the task (Drotar et al., 2008).

To allow for connections in the early childhood brain, children must be given open-ended activities and questioning to allow the child to pursue their interests in learning (Lonigan & Whitehurst, 1998). Also, when teaching a preschool child, it is important to teach the whole child and not just focus in on one area of development (Rushton et al., 2010). Many of the activities included in the PAT Program are openended to address the four areas of development, so that many different learning activities can take place in the home (Albrecht, Haffner, & Kostelc, 2005

The Home Visit

Home visits to the family begin after the family is enrolled in the PAT Program. The first and central part of the PAT Program is the individualized home visit implemented by the parent educator (Cohen, 1991). Winter (1985), one of the first program directors for the Parents as Teacher National Center, indicated that the home visit component was the foremost element to building relationships with parents. The basis of each individual home visit is centralized on the Born to Learn Curriculum (Nelson, 2000) and is adapted to meet the needs of the family and child. The curriculum is based on four areas of development to educate the whole child: (a) language, (b) cognitive, (c) social-emotional, and (d) motor development. Research on early childhood has shown that the first few years of life are very pivotal in a child's development, and children must be given many types of interactions to express emotions and connect with adults to facilitate their learning process (Jensen, 2005; Rushton, Eitelgeorge, & Zickafoose, 2003; Rushton, Juola-Rushton, & Larkin, 2010). Attachment to parents must take place during the early years of life (Ainsworth, Blehar, Waters, & Wall, 1978; Bowlby, 1983; Hodges & Tizard, 1989) Even if parents are supportive in later childhood, the child will have difficulty making connections in their relationships if early attachment was lacking (Ainsworth, Blehar, Waters, & Wall, 1978; Bowlby, 1983;

Hodges & Tizard, 1989).

The home environment is changed from the encounters with home visits. When parent educators engage parents in developmentally-appropriate practices and play for the child, parents are more likely to provide an educationally-stimulating home environment (Owen & Mulvihill, 1994). Prenatal through school age visits are available to parents in the state of Missouri with a child in those age requirements. Depending on the family need, the parent educator can visit the family weekly, bi-monthly, monthly, or every six to eight weeks. Each lesson plan in the curriculum includes: (a) developmental information for the child's age, (b) parent-child activity during the visit, (c) sharing books during the visit, and (d) open-ended questions to build knowledge and rapport with parents (Owen & Mulvihill, 1994; PATNC, 2005).

Sweet and Appelbaum's research (2004) showed that parents who receive home visits benefit by participating: (a) during time off of work, (b) to allow parents to learn parenting skills with a professional's support, and (c) receive financial incentives of not having to drive or pay for child care during the home visit. According to Korfmacher et al. (2008), the home visit should engage the parents, and when parents become more involved in the early childhood intervention, the results from the home visit are more effective for the parents. Follow-up studies have shown that home visits effect change in cognitive abilities after the intervention has ceased in the home (Hutcheson et al., 1997).

The use of home visits has also been shown to facilitate change in high-risk families. Marcenko, Spence, and Samost (1996) found that high risk mothers who received home visits for 16 months showed a greater access to agencies and services to aid the family than the control group that received no home visits. Mothers in this study also showed a decrease in psychological distress in the experimental home visit group (Marcenko, Spence, & Samost, 1996).

The behavior of children and behavior modification are areas discussed with preschool parents during home visits. In the Houston Parent-Child Development Center study, low income Mexican Americans who had children in jeopardy of behavior problems were given home visits (Johnson & Breckenridge, 1982; Johnson & Walker, 1987). Initially the children showed lower levels of inappropriate behavior from parent and teacher evaluations (Johnson & Walker, 1987). Children who were in the pilot of this program did continue to show more appropriate behavior in further longitudinal assessments. Others who engaged in replicated studies in Birmingham and New Orleans did not show any significant difference in years after the intervention (Johnson, 2006). Findings on whether home visits do impact significant behavioural change are inconclusive with present research results.

Group Meetings

Group meetings are the second part of the PAT Program. Group meetings allow children and their parents a time to socially interact with other adults and children. Brown and Conroy (2002) found that preschoolers need social contact because it allows children to develop socially, cognitively, and physically. Verbal reception and print familiarity have been shown to increase when children interact with peers who possess more advanced skills (Henry & Rickman, 2007). Social skills allow children to understand social norms and cultivate peer approval (Hollingsworth, 2005; Vail & Elmore, 2011). In the group meeting setting, special needs children also benefit by witnessing and mimicking positive interactions they encounter with more socially-

50

advanced peers (Vail & Elmore, 2011).

The rationale for the group meetings is to allow parents to hear information from experts in the field of child development, to provide support for parenting issues, and to allow parents to form a network of support with other parents. Parents want to build connections with others who may assist their parenting skills through a mutually edifying relationship with other parents (Olson & Hyson, 2005). Some events can be lectures with question and answer sessions, while others can be informal gatherings that have a theme, like Big Truck Night, where parent educators share developmental information on the theme of the event for that particular age and development of each child.

Developmental Screenings

The third component of the PAT program is developmental screenings. The parent educator performs a developmental screening at least annually with each eligible child in the family. By performing regular developmental assessments, parents are alerted to how their child is developing and shown how to monitor development. Screenings began in early childhood education in 1966. In 1967, the Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis, and Treatment Program (EPSDT) was created by "...both Title XIX (Medicaid) and Titile V (Maternal and Child Health) portions of the Social Security Act (being) amended" (United States Department of Health and Human Services, 2011, p. 5). This program mandated that children be administered periodic screenings in health and development to detect possible developmental delays (Meisels, 1988). Later the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004 required all of the states to discover, place, and assess all children with special needs (Gartland & Strosnider, 2007).

Over the last 35 years, screenings have been developed and revised due to changes in education and research on screenings. From 2006-2008, research identified that one in six children have a developmental disability (Boyle et al., 2011). "Developmental screening has the great potential for improving the lives of young children" (Meisel, 1988, p. 527). Intervention in early childhood is regarded as the opportune time for intervention. Families and schools have pressure to intercede as soon as possible to effect the most academic change for the child (Baker & Feinfeld, 2003). Learning disabilities and autism are areas that have shown the greatest response from early childhood interventions (Green, Brennan, & Fein, 2002; Harris & Handleman, 2000).

If the screening indicates a problem area, further comprehensive tests should be used to ascertain if the child needs an intervention in the area of the delay (Gartland & Strosnider, 2007; Meisels, 1988). Barnes (1982) reported that screenings are accurate in their reporting 75% of the time. The Ages and Stages Questionnaire, the screening used by many early childhood programs, including the Parents as Teachers Program, reports that the general screening predicts the probability of a child needing special education intervention accurately 89% of the time (Kerstjens et al., 2009). Screenings are tools that are used in the PAT Program to define academic interactions and to indicate if interventions need to be sought for preschoolers.

Resource Network

The last component of the PAT program is the resource networking available to parents. In group meetings, parents are able to network and form relationships to aid in the task of parenting. Many PAT programs also allocate space in school buildings for play groups, libraries, toy lending libraries, and other resources so parents can build a resource network for parenting their child (Albrecht, Haffner, & Kostelec, 2005).

Social toys that facilitate interaction between parents and children and between multiple children are toys that are usually available for parents to utilize from the PAT office. Researchers have found that certain toys like dress-up clotchs, riding toys, puppets, and building blocks assist children to be socially interactive (Ivory & McCollum, 1999; McCabe, Jenkins, Mills, Dale, & Cole, 1999). Using the resource network to check out toys allows parents to use toys for a brief amount of time. The freshness of toys will entice children to play with the new toys (McGee, Daly, Izeman, Mann, & Risley, 1991).

The resource network of the PAT Program allows parent educators to empower parents to obtain resources outside of PAT (Albrecht et al., 2005). Many times parents do not know where to obtain health care, housing, food, utility assistance, and other needs pertinent to everyday life. Parent educators are not supposed to obtain extra services for families, but they should tell parents about agencies and help parents get in contact with organizations to support that family.

Summary

Several topics were examined in this chapter with the emphasis on social interaction and peer learning. Many preschool interventions are based in social learning. Social learning is centered on the understanding that children learn from mimicking their peers and adults. Children are supported in higher realizations when paired with a more educated person. The first person to guide children in higher learning is a parent. Parents can be supported during the preschool years by educators who teach the parent about social and academic development in their child.

To support parents in educating preschool children, several legislative acts have been enacted to monetarily support preschool and later learning initiatives. The Economic Opportunity Act was the first act in the United States to federally fund a preschool intervention, Head Start, to support children from low socio-economic areas in the complete development of the child. Further legislation with No Child Left Behind and the current Common Core State Standards maintain the importance for preschool education due to the early required literacy competencies by the end of third grade.

Two-generation programs in early childhood education were devised to support legislation. These programs reinforce assistance to both parents and children. Parents in the program receive education and support from professionals in education, while children obtain academic and social skills from peers and teachers in the programs.

With the variety of preschool programs, many considerations should be evaluated to decide the effectiveness of the program. Universal admittance or targeted entry to programs can decide the cost of the program to society. Play-based interactions or a complete academic model in the preschool intervention should also be considered when designing the program.

Chapter Three discusses the study of the PAT Program in one school district in Missouri. In Chapter Four, the results from PAT and non-PAT pairs were analyzed, and Chapter Five contains a discussion of the findings from the study.

54

CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY

Introduction

The Parents as Teachers (PAT) Program is a program that provides home visits, group meetings, screenings, and resources to parents of children age prenatal through school age in the state of Missouri (Parents as Teachers National Center, 2010). The PAT Program is administered by every local school district to the preschool parents on a voluntary basis and the program is free of charge to all who participate in the program (Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2010b). The program was started in the state of Missouri in 1985, and currently the program is in every state in the United States and in several foreign countries (Parents as Teachers National Center, 2010).

The purpose of this causal-comparative study was to expand previous research on the effectiveness of the PAT Program on academic achievement (Pfannenstiel et al., 2003; Zigler et al., 2008). The research questions for this study were:

- Do currently enrolled fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program show a significant difference on the school readiness screening, the DIAL-3 composite score when compared to fifth- and sixth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program?
- 2. Do currently enrolled fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program show a significant difference on the third grade MAP Communication Arts test when compared to fifth- and sixth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program?

3. Do currently enrolled fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program show a significant difference on the fourth grade MAP Communication Arts test when compared to fifth- and sixth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program?

In chapter three, an explanation of the participants for the study and the setting are discussed for this study. After these explanations, instruments used in the study are described, including reliability and validity information on each instrument. Procedures used in the collection of the archival data are discussed next in the chapter. The end of the chapter consists of the research design and the statistical analysis for the study.

Participants

The participants in this study were current fifth- and sixth-grade students who did or did not participate in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program from 1999-2006. All of the students in this sample were either identified as a PAT participant or a non-PAT participant. To be identified as a PAT participant, the student must have received at least five home visits from a parent educator with the Eagle School District. In the Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education budget, each child in the PAT program is guaranteed five visits yearly from a trained parent educator (OA, 2009). PAT participants from other school districts were not considered for the research due to lack of information included in permanent files on students when transferring to the Eagle School District.

The average size for each grade level in Eagle Public Schools is 275 students (DESE, 2010a). This study used a convenience sample that was recorded from archival

data from the Eagle School District. The study included 89 pairs of students from the Eagle School District. After a list of PAT participants from both the current fifth- and sixth-grade classes were compiled, a list of non-participants in each grade was created for the study. Each PAT participant was matched with the first corresponding match in the non-PAT group until one list of participants was exhausted. The matched pairs were equated according to socioeconomic status, gender, and ethnicity. If PAT participants were unable to be paired because of a non-match with a non-PAT participant or the file contained incomplete data, the student was excluded from the study.

The first paring indicator was gender. Students were matched according to their gender indicated to the Eagle Public School District. To match participants on the socioeconomic factor, participants were coupled according to participation or non-participation in the Federal Free and Reduced Meals Program. To compare ethnicity, students were matched in four categories: Caucasian, African-American, Hispanic, and Other Ethnicity. The last pairing indicator was participation or non-participation in Eagle's pre-kindergarten program. In the original proposed study, students were also to be matched on participation in the Eagle Pre-K program. Due to differences in program implementation during the 2005-2006 school year, all children who attended the Eagle Pre-K Program that school year also attended the Eagle Pre-K Program and were PAT participants, the matching characteristic was dropped from the study. By matching participants in the study, it was endeavored to keep extraneous variables from affecting the validity of the study.

57

Setting

The population for this study comes from the Missouri community of Eagle, Missouri, located in Northeast Missouri on the Mississippi River. The population for the county according to the United States Census (2010) was 28,781 in 2010. The child population in Marion County, where Eagle mostly resides, is 6,941 (The Annie E. Casey Foundation, 2010). The total enrollment for the Eagle Public Schools in 2010 was 3,484 students (DESE, 2010a). There are several local private schools that children attend in the Eagle Public School attendance area in this small suburban town. Forty-seven percent of the students in the Eagle School District receive free and reduced meals (The Annie E. Casey Foundation, 2010; DESE, 2010a).

PAT Program

The Parents as Teachers' (PAT) *Born to Learn Program* was used in this study. In the state of Missouri, each family with a child prenatal through school age has the right through the local school district to receive PAT services (DESE, 2010b). To sign up for the program, parents filled out a paper or online registration form. Once parents agreed to join the program, a parent educator was assigned to the family to implement the family's home visits.

The home visits were implemented for volunteer families in the Eagle School District by parent educators who were trained in the PAT *Born to Learn Curriculum*. The services were provided to the participants in the study in their preschool years, from 1999-2006. Each family had the capability to receive five or more visits each year during their participation in the PAT Program. Home visits were commonly completed in the participant's home, but some visits occurred in other locations.

Instrumentation

Instruments were chosen to measure school readiness at kindergarten entry and academic achievement in communication arts at the end of third and fourth grades of the student's school career through use of the DIAL-3 and the MAP Communication Arts tests. The DIAL-3 was chosen as a school readiness assessment because it has been shown to be valid and reliable as a school readiness indicator (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998). The Communication Arts MAP tests, valid and reliable state assessments given to all qualified children in the state, were selected to measure sustained academic achievement in literacy from participation in the Parents as Teachers Program (Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2000; Webb, 2006).

The DIAL-3 screening assesses the physical, cognitive, communication, social and emotional, and adaptive areas mandated by the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) of 1965 to be included in preschool assessments (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998). Five subtests incorporated in the DIAL-3 are (a) motor, (b) concepts, (c) language, (d) self-help development, and (e) social development (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998). Each item in the DIAL-3 assesses a distinctive behavior and was scored with a raw score that was calculated by hand or computer. The raw score was on a five-point scale with zero indicating the lowest score and four indicating the highest score. The raw score for each subsection was then converted to a scaled score on a functional five-point scale with zero being the lowest score and four being the highest score (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998). The composite score on the DIAL-3 was calculated from scaled scores in the motor, concepts, and language sections (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998). For the purposes of this study, the composite score, the DIAL-3 Total, was used to document academic proficiency for both the PAT participants and the non-PAT participants.

The DIAL-3 has an internal consistency reliability of .87, showing that the items used in the DIAL-3 correlate with other measures of school readiness (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998). The DIAL-3 has a test-retest reliability of .88 for children age three years and zero months to four years and five months, and a test-retest reliability of .84 for children age four years and six months to five years and ten months (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998). Validity for the DIAL-3 has been measured for content and concurrent validity, but the test has not reported any data on predictive validity (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998).

The third and fourth grade Missouri Assessment Program (MAP) Communication Arts tests were the second and third assessments used to measure the effect of the PAT program. The Department of Elementary and Secondary Education state the rationale for the creation of the MAP assessment in the following statement:

The Missouri Assessment Program (MAP) is one of several educational reforms mandated by the Outstanding Schools Act of 1993. As a result of this legislation, the State Board of Education directed the Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) to identify the knowledge, skills, and competencies that Missouri students should acquire by the time they complete high school and to assess student progress toward these academic standards. DESE staff worked with educators, parents, and business professionals from throughout the state to develop the Show Me Standards and to create the MAP as a tool for evaluating the proficiencies represented by the Standards. (DESE, 2000, p. 2) The MAP test was contracted and created by the CTB McGraw-Hill Company (DESE, 2000). The multiple choice portion of the MAP assessment is the survey portion of the *Terra Nova* test, a standardized test from CTB McGraw-Hill (DESE, 2000). Technical information on MAP scoring states that MAP scores in the same content area can be compared in adjacent grades because the scores are in the same range from third grade to eighth grade (DESE, 2011c).

Scores for the MAP test are derived scores from raw scores that are calculated to the MAP scale score (CTB McGraw Hill, 2010). The scale score is on a continuous scale that is a derived score. Continuous scores are used on the MAP test because students can earn any score on the MAP score continuum from zero to over 820 (CTB McGraw Hill, 2010; Gall, Gall & Borg, 2007). A derived score aids in understanding a student's performance in comparison with others who took the MAP assessment (Gall, Gall, & Borg, 2007). Each scale score for the MAP assessment is reported on the Student Score Label that is placed into each student's permanent file (CTB McGraw Hill, 2010).

Scores from the MAP third grade Communication Arts assessment are as follows: (a) Below Basic – 455-591, (b) Basic – 592-647, (c) Proficient – 648-672, and (d) Advanced – 673-790. The fourth grade Communication Arts MAP scores are as follows: (a) Below Basic – 470-611, (b) Basic – 612-661, (c) Proficient – 662-690, and (d) Advanced – 691-820.

Criterion validity on the MAP test has been evaluated on the Show-Me Standards, the state standards that Missouri students must attain for subjects and grade levels (Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2000). Validity was also assessed by Missouri educators who reviewed the assessment, and each of the items within the test was assessed for its correlation between the entire assessment score and item scores (Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2000). Consequential validity on the MAP test has also changed instruction in Missouri, so teachers are currently teaching the concepts and skills similar to those on the MAP assessment (Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2000).

Reliability on the MAP assessment has been assessed in scorer agreement (Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2000). Trained scorers assess the constructed response and performance events. The scorer agreement between the MAP assessments given in 1999-2000 on open-ended items was between 75%-96% agreement (Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2000). The MAP test is also reliable in the levels of proficiency used on the assessment because these levels were set by panelists who through several rounds of evaluations came to a consensus on the levels of proficiencies (Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2000). The MAP has a high inter-rater agreement of 84.12% (Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2000). The intraclass correlation between third and eighth grade is greater than 80% (Webb, 2006). The MAP test has been tested for reliability against the Stanford Achievement Test 9th Edition and has shown reliability for assessing the same concepts 80%-90% of the time (Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2000). The MAP Communication Arts test has a reliability of 91.3% according to the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education in Missouri (Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2000).

Procedures

To obtain records on a school's Parents as Teachers Program, the school's administration was notified to ascertain who the administrator of the Parents as Teachers Program is for the district. The Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program is housed in the school district's Special Services Building. The administrator of the program oversees (a) the Parents as Teachers Program, (b) the Eagle's Title-I pre-Kindergarten program, (c) the Missouri Preschool Project, and (d) the Early Childhood Special Education Program. The Special Services Building is where all of the documentation on Parents as Teachers is housed for the Eagle School District.

Permission through a written application presented to the Eagle School District's Central Office was granted by the district to conduct research and use permanent files, PAT participation lists, and matching list information. After obtaining the district's permission, authorization to complete research was obtained through Liberty University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) to conduct research that involves human subjects. Following IRB permission, the researcher went to each of the five elementary schools by alphabetical order of the school's name. At each elementary school when completing data collection, each participant in the study was assigned a number on flash drive A to protect anonymity in the study. On flash drive B, students' numbers with the SPSS grid information was stored. Use of names was needed to match all data collected from permanent files, Free and Reduced Lunch lists, and Parents as Teachers rosters of family participation.

Fifth-grade files were searched in the permanent file room to record DIAL-3 composite and third and fourth grade MAP Communication Arts scores and data was

entered in that location. The demographic information that was listed on the MAP composite score sheet was coded into the SPSS data grid for gender and ethnicity. The SPSS data grid was located on the researcher's personal computer that went in and out of each elementary school with the researcher.

The sixth-grade DIAL-3 scores were listed on a spreadsheet documenting the composite scores for students in that grade. This list was obtained through the Eagle School District's special services office. The third and fourth-grade MAP scores for the current sixth-graders were obtained from the Administration Office on spreadsheets provided from DESE. Demographic information, gender and ethnicity, was also received on a spreadsheet from the Administration Office. The SPSS data grid was located on the researcher's personal computer that went in and out the middle school office and the Administration Office with the researcher. All MAP scores, demographic information, gender and ethnicity information was entered into the SPSS grid while in a private room at the Administration Offices.

The MAP scores on the Communication Arts third and fourth-grade assessments were entered into the appropriate column for each participant in the SPSS grid. Ethnicity was categorized as (a) white non-Hispanic, and (b) African American, (c) Hispanic (d) other ethnicity. Students were also coded as either attending or not attending the Eagle's pre-kindergarten program. All males were coded the number one and all females were coded the number two in this study.

Parent participation in PAT from 1999-2006 was obtained from permanent files for current fifth-graders and from the PAT office in the Eagle School District for current sixth-graders. Families who received five or more PAT visits were coded as one and families that did not receive five PAT visits were coded as zero. All PAT visit information was entered on the SPSS data grid. This data was entered at the Eagle School District's Special Services building where the PAT offices are housed for the district.

Socioeconomic status was obtained on one sheet for fifth- and sixth-grade students from the Central Administration Office. Low socioeconomic status was coded as zero for families who qualified for free and reduced lunch and one for families who did not qualify for the program.

After the information was recorded for all three matching characteristics, PAT students were paired with non-PAT students. Fifth- and sixth-grade students in the district were paired with matching students on all three factors — gender, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status. The first PAT student on the fifth-grade list was matched with the first complete match in the non-PAT fifth-grade group. The matching ended when either all participants in the PAT list or the non-PAT list were exhausted.

Research Design

A causal-comparative design was chosen to compare one school district's PAT Program participants' academic achievement with non-PAT program participants on the DIAL-3 Composite and the third and fourth grade MAP Communication Arts tests with current fifth- and sixth-grade classes in the Eagle School District. This design allows the researcher to examine if a causal relationship exists between an independent and dependent variables when the independent variable occurs prior to the research and is not assigned by the researcher (Campbell & Stanley, 1963). To control for inherent threats to validity in the casual-comparative design, participants were matched by designated characteristics to provide equality in the matched pairs.

A true experimental design would be unethical to utilize in this research. The Parents as Teachers Program is a free program offered to all Missouri families with prenatal to school age children, so to limit who could participate in the program would be academically unethical to the participants and the children who could not participate in the PAT Program. In a 25-year-old established program with limited research to support academic achievement from participants, it is important to conduct causal-comparative research with archival data to understand if there is a possible relationship between PAT participation and higher academic achievement.

Data Analysis

Prior to research, assumptions were made about the samples in the study. It was assumed that all scores in the study were made without influencing other scores. This was based on the standard delivery scripted for both the DIAL-3 and all MAP Communication Arts tests (DESE, 2011a; DESE, 2011b, Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenberg, 1998). A second assumption was that reporting agencies state that the DIAL-3 and the MAP scores are normally distributed and interval scores (DESE, 2008; Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenberg, 1998). A Levene's test was conducted to test for the homogeneity of variances with SPSS for the third assumption for the study. Levene's tests are a method to understand the significance level's equal statistical variances and power with normality violations (Conover, Johnson, & Johnson, 1981). A histogram was graphed by SPSS to show if scores were scattered or linear. With the alpha set at a level of .05, a univariate analyses to determine whether the null hypotheses should be rejected.

The last assumption test was the Kolmogorov-Smirnov goodness of fit test. According to Olea and Pawlosky (2009), "The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test is a convenient method for investigating whether two underlying univariate probability distributions can be regarded as undistinguishable from each other or whether an underlying probability distribution differs from hypothetical distributions" (p.749).

Once the data was collected, the means and the standard deviations from both the PAT participants and the non-PAT participants were calculated for the DIAL-3 Composite scores, the third grade MAP Communication Arts scores, and the fourth grade MAP Communication Arts scores. The *t* test for independent means was employed since, "In most causal-comparative studies, researchers compare the mean scores of two samples to determine whether they are significantly different from each other" (Gall, Gall & Borg, 2007, p. 317). Three two-tailed *t* tests for independent means were conducted to determine if a difference existed between the PAT group and the non-PAT group scores on the DIAL-3 Composite scores, the third grade MAP Communication Arts scores, and the fourth grade MAP Communication Arts scores. From this analysis, a Cohen's *d* was calculated to determine the confidence interval for the study. By statistically computing the confidence interval for the study, practical meaning was assigned to the findings of the research (Cumming & Finch, 2005).

A large sample was used to prevent against Type II error (Gall, Gall, & Borg, 2007). A priori power analysis was conducted to determine that with use of a two-tailed *t* test the sample required 128 participants and a total of 178 participants were used in the study. Each grade in the Eagle's Public School has approximately 275, children and this study used two district wide grade levels. (DESE, 2010a).

Summary

This chapter addressed the participants and the procedures used to collect data in this research. Chapter Four explores the results from the study that was conducted on the Parents as Teachers Program. In Chapter Five, the results and implications from the research are discussed.

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

The purpose of this causal-comparative study was to investigate the differences between current fifth- and sixth-grade children who participated in the Eagle Parents as Teachers Program from 1999 to 2006 with children who did not participate in the program. The two groups were compared on three standardized assessments: the DIAL-3, the Communication Arts third grade MAP test, and the Communication Arts fourth grade MAP test. This chapter discusses the results of the three research hypotheses. The second part of this chapter offers a summary of the results.

The participants for this study were 178 current fifth- and sixth-grade students in the Eagle School District in Missouri. Students who participated in the Eagle PAT Program were paired with a non-PAT peer on gender, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status. Every student in the study had scores on the DIAL-3, the MAP Communication Arts third grade assessment, and the MAP Communication Arts fourth grade assessment in order to be considered as a participant.

Assumption Testing

Normality Testing

To test for normality, a Kolmogorov Smirnov goodness of fit was conducted. The Kolmogorov Smirnov test with the Lilliefor's Significance Correction is used to detect nonlinearity in a normal distribution of scores (Steinskog, Tjostein, & Kvamsto, 2007). . On the DIAL-3 assessment, the results indicated that the distribution was significantly different from a normal distribution (p < .05) in Figure 4.1. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test indicated that the DIAL-3 composite scores were not normally distributed for PAT

participants (p = .03) and non-PAT participants (p = .00). Both MAP Communication

Arts tests indicated that the scores were linear in each normal distribution.

Table 4.1

| Test | | Statistic | Df | Р |
|--------------|-------------------|-----------|----|-----|
| DIAL-3 Score | NO PAT | .10 | 89 | .03 |
| | Participation | | | |
| | PAT Participation | .14 | 89 | .00 |
| MAP CA 3rd | NO PAT | .09 | 89 | .09 |
| Grade | Participation | | | |
| | PAT Participation | .08 | 89 | .20 |
| MAP CA 4th | NO PAT | .08 | 89 | .19 |
| Grade | Participation | | | |
| | PAT Participation | .08 | 89 | .20 |

Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test of Normality

Levene's Test

The second assumption test was the Levene's test for equality of variances. The Levene's test for the DIAL-3 composite scores shows that F = .04 and the significance level was .85. Since .85 is greater than .05, there is no significant difference in variance between the two groups. The significance for a two-tailed test is .09, so there is no significant difference between the means of the two groups.

When the MAP communication arts test scores for third graders was assessed with the Levene's test for equality of variances shows that F = 1.45 and the significance level was .23. Since .23 is greater than .05, there is no significant difference in variance between the two groups. The significance of the two-tailed test is p = .13 which is more than $p \le .05$.

For the MAP communication arts test for fourth graders, the Levene's test for the equality of variances indicates that F = .18 and the significance level is .68 which is higher than the .05 set significance level. There is no significant difference in the variance of the PAT and the non-PAT group. The significance of the two-tailed test is p = .46 which is more than $p \le .05$.

Results

Prior to conducting the *t* tests, assumption testing was conducted. Even with the normality violations, a *t* test was chosen to compare the mean scores on the DIAL-3 assessment for PAT and non-PAT participants, because the grounds to use a nonparametric test is the continuous character of the data (Gravetter & Wallnau, 1985). To use a parametric test, the distribution of scores does not need to be a rigid normal distribution. Educational data can very often be skewed and not follow the normal distribution of scores (Micceri, 1989). Delaney and Vargha (2000) also found that distributions that are skewed in the same direction are less likely to have violations that are acceptable to research.

Levene's test for the equality of variances indicated that F = .04, and the significance level was .85 which is higher than the .05 set significance level. The PAT scores do appear to be slightly more positively skewed than the non-PAT scores on the DIAL-3 as found in Figure 1. Due to the non-normality for the distributions in scores box plots were used to understand if extreme outliers were affecting results for the Levene's results on the DIAL-3 composite scores. The boxplots in Figure 2 show that

the DIAL-3 data is skewed, but there were few outliers to the DIAL-3 scores. Due to all the data collected from the assumption testing, it was decided to perform the three two-tailed t tests for independent means for the study.



Figure 1. Histogram for DIAL-3 scores for PAT and non-PAT participants in 5th and 6th graders.


PAT_Participation

Figure 2: Boxplot for DIAL-3 Scores for PAT and non-PAT participants for 5th and 6th graders.

Results of Hypothesis One

The first hypothesis stated that there would be a significant difference between the DIAL-3 composite scores of students in fifth- and sixth-grade who participated in the Eagle PAT program and the scores of fifth-grade students who did not participate in the Eagle PAT program. A two-tailed independent *t* test was conducted to compare the mean scores on the DIAL-3 between PAT participants and non-PAT participants. Table 4.2 contains the means and standard deviations of the scores on the DIAL-3. The difference between the two groups was not significant, t(176) = -1.73, p = .847

The Cohen's d = .27, so the effect size for this hypothesis indicates a small effect size. The data was analyzed using confidence intervals (CI) and effect size (ES). Zhang (2009) states the following about CI and ES:

Confidence intervals for effect size are strongly recommended to be used as a useful supplement to and maybe even superior replacement for the *t*-test. Effect size indices such as Cohen's are able to provide all information that is provided by the *t*-test as well as vital information not provided by the *t*-test such as magnitude of the effects and the precision of estimates (p.32).

The 95% confidence interval wass -7.46 to .49, which indicated that the results could fall from a large effect size in favor of not participating in the PAT program to a very large effect size in favor of the PAT preschool intervention. Cohen's *d* falls within the confidence interval for a very small positive effect size in favor of the Parents as Teachers Program.

Table 4.2

Descriptive Statistics for DIAL-3 Composite Scores

| DIAL-3 Score | n | М | SD |
|----------------------|----|-------|-------|
| PAT Participation | 89 | 57.91 | 13.66 |
| NO PAT Participation | 89 | 54.43 | 13.19 |

Results of Hypothesis Two

The second research hypothesis stated that there would be a significant difference between the scores of fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in the Eagle's PAT Program and the scores of students who did not participate in the program on the MAP third grade Communication Arts assessment. To compare the means for the two groups in this study, a two-tailed, independent *t* test was conducted. Based on Table 4.2, PAT participants scored slightly higher on the third grade MAP Communication Arts test than non-PAT participants, but the scores were not significantly higher.

Table 4.3

Descriptive Statistics for 5th and 6th Graders on the MAP 3rd Grade Communication Arts Test.

| MAP CA 3 rd Grade | n | М | SD |
|------------------------------|----|--------|-------|
| PAT Participation | 89 | 645.70 | 30.29 |
| NO PAT Participation | 89 | 638.18 | 35.24 |

The difference between the two groups was not significant, t(176) = -1.53, p = .23Students in the PAT group had a higher mean score on the third grade MAP Communication Arts test (M = 645.70), but the scores were not significantly higher than the non-PAT group (M = 638.18). Cohen's d = .24 for this hypothesis showed a small effect size. The 95% confidence interval is -2.21 to 17.24, which indicated that the results could fall from very large effect size in favor of not participating in the PAT program to an extremely very large effect size in favor of the PAT preschool intervention. Cohen's d falls within the confidence interval for a small positive effect size in favor of the Parents as Teachers Program.

The histogram is unimodal and approximately symmetric. The PAT group does appear to have scores that are more positively skewed than the non-PAT group. As shown in Figure 2, the scores in the PAT group have a slightly larger distribution of higher scores on the third grade MAP Communication Arts test.



Figure 3. Histogram for PAT and non-PAT 5th and 6th grade students on the 3rd grade MAP Communication Arts test.

Results of Hypothesis Three

A comparison of the mean scores on the fourth grade Communication Arts MAP test for current fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated or did not participate in the Eagle's PAT program was conducted through the use of an independent two-tailed t

test. In this hypothesis, participation in the Eagle's PAT program was the independent variable.

Table 4.4

Descriptive Statistics for 5th and 6th Graders on the 4th grade MAP Communication Arts test.

| MAP CA 4 th Grade | n | М | SD |
|------------------------------|----|--------|-------|
| PAT Participation | 89 | 667.28 | 32.78 |
| NO PAT Participation | 89 | 663.72 | 31.92 |

The difference between the two groups was not significant, t(176) = -.73, p = .68Students in the PAT group had a higher mean score on the third grade MAP Communication Arts test (M = 667.28), but the scores were not significantly higher than the non-PAT group (M = 663.72). Information provided in Figure 3 was used to evaluate the normality in the comparison of mean scores. The histogram shown in Figure 4 indicates that scores obtained in both groups are near normal distribution of scores.



PAT_Participation

Figure 4. Histogram for PAT and non-PAT 5th and 6th grade students on the 4th grade MAP Communication Arts test.

The Cohen's d = .11, so the effect size for this hypothesis indicates a very small effect size. The 95% confidence interval is -6.01 to 13.13, which indicated that the results could fall from a large effect size in favor of not participating in the PAT program to a very large effect size in favor of the PAT preschool intervention. Cohen's *d* falls within the confidence interval for a very small positive effect size in favor of the Parents as Teachers Program.

Results Summary

Three hypotheses were examined to compare students' performance on the DIAL-3, the MAP third grade Communication Arts test, and the MAP fourth grade Communication Arts test. Mean scores from these standardized assessments were analyzed using the difference in mean between students in the Eagle's Parents as Teacher group and students who did participate in the program. Matching characteristics were employed in the study, so that all students were matched on gender, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status. The results show that there was no significant difference in students who participated in the PAT program and students who did not participate in the program, but PAT participants did obtain slightly higher mean scores on all of the standardized assessments used in this study. Chapter Five discusses the results, the implications, and the need for future research from conducting this research.

CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

The purpose of Chapter Five is to review the results of the study and discuss the findings. The chapter is divided into four sections: (a) discussion, (b) limitations, (c) implications and recommendations for future research, and (d) conclusions.

Summary of the Findings

With the implementation of No Child Left Behind (NCLB, 2008), states and schools have been exploring educational interventions that will impact reading achievement in early elementary school. The mandates of NCLB have given schools until a child reaches the end of third grade to be reading on grade level. With only four grades in a typical elementary school to effect this change, many in education are looking to programs to maximize more opportunities to intervene with the child.

Research Question One

The first purpose of this causal-comparative study was to compare the standardized test scores on the DIAL-3 Composite for current fifth- and sixth-graders who participated in the Eagle Parents as Teachers Program from 1999-2006 with current fifth- and sixth-graders in the Eagle School District who did not participate in the PAT program. The research sample included 178 students who were paired into a group of 89 PAT participants and 89 non-PAT participants. Each pair was established by matching each participant on gender, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status.

The results of the two-tailed *t* test indicated that the mean score on the DIAL-3 composite for children participating in the Eagle PAT program was higher, but not significantly higher than the mean score of non-participants in the program. PAT students scored an average 3.62 points higher on the DIAL-3 than non-PAT participants.

From the scores obtained in this study, PAT does not significantly affect academic achievement on the composite DIAL-3 score.

In the literature review, previous PAT research was explored that employed a kindergarten entry test (Pfannenstiel et al., 2003; Zigler et al., 2008). The kindergarten entry test used in the past study could only be used in a state-wide study of the program. This study employed a commonly used preschool assessment that is implemented individually to assess each child. By using the DIAL-3, this research built upon previous studies by using a commercially available instrument. The DIAL-3 is a reliable and valid screening measure to allow school districts a method to longitudinally track each student's academic performance in school.

The findings from the DIAL-3 indicate that there are no significant differences for mean composite scores for the PAT group and the non-PAT group. This finding is contrary to previous research on the PAT program that indicated that PAT students do score higher on school entry exams than the average score for that test (Pfannenstiel, Seitz, & Zigler, 2003; Pfannenstiel, Seitz, & Zigler, 2008). When the results for all students are graphed in a histogram in Figure 1, it is evident from the graph that the PAT participant's DIAL-3 scores are slightly more positive and higher scores than non-PAT participant's scores.

The DIAL-3 results are similar to research that indicates that a universal preschool's effect on positive academic change is slightly positive or ambiguous (Loeb, Bridges, Bassok, Fuller, & Rumberger, 2007). The DIAL-3 average scores do indicate that PAT participants score between the 55th-74th percentiles while non-PAT participants score between the 54th-61st percentiles (Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998,

p.117-118). These percentiles indicate that PAT participants do score in a higher percentile bracket, but the difference in scores between the non-PAT participants is not significant.

Research Question Two

In Research Question Two, current fifth- and sixth-grade students who participated in PAT were compared with students who did not participate in PAT by using the mean score on the MAP Communication Arts third grade assessment. In this two-tailed *t* test comparison, PAT students scored an average of 646 points on the assessment while non-PAT students scored an average of 638 points. The findings were not significant. The results indicate that PAT does not significantly affect scores for students on the MAP Communication Arts third grade test.

The results from the MAP Communication Arts third grade were similar to previous research for mean scores achieved on this test (Zigler, Pfannenstiel, & Seitz, 2008). The average score for a PAT participant in the 2008 study was 639.5 points as compared to the mean score in this study of 646 points. The 2008 study compared PAT participants' scores on the third grade MAP Communication Arts test. This study endeavored to compare PAT participants to non-PAT participants in the same school district. The 2008 study (Zigler et al., 2008) found that participation in the PAT Program had a direct and indirect effect on third grade MAP achievement. Using the Statistical Analysis System (SAS) and Covariance Analysis of Linear Structural Equations (CALIS), a causal model was tested for examination of residuals, the probability of the values for chi-square, and goodness of fit indexes. These measures found direct and indirect effects on third grade MAP Communication Arts achievement and the length of time the child spent in the PAT Program (Zigler et al., 2008). This study found that PAT participants did score an average of 8 points higher that non-PAT participants, but the scores were not significantly different.

The scores on the MAP assessments are organized in categories. Scores that are at or above 648 are deemed Proficient in third grade (DESE, 2011c). The average score for a PAT participant on the third grade MAP Communication Arts test was 646. This score was only two points from Proficient on the MAP assessment. Schools desire students to be Proficient on the MAP assessment since funding, accreditation, and state sanctions are determined from the assessment scores. With the PAT group scoring very close to the Proficient score in third grade, the school district might find that the PAT intervention is an effective program since children who did participate in the program scored eight points closer to Proficient than non-PAT participants.

Research Question Three

The purpose of Research Question Three was to compare the same PAT and non-PAT pairs used in Research Questions One and Two on their mean scores on the MAP Communication Arts fourth grade assessment. PAT participants had a mean score of 667 points as compared to non-PAT participants mean score of 664 points. The mean scores were not significantly different for PAT students and non-PAT students.

The mean scores for both the PAT group and the non-PAT group on the fourth grade MAP Communication Arts scores were in the Proficient range. The PAT group scored higher on this assessment than the non-PAT group, but the difference was not significant. With both groups meeting AYP, the school district showed that children taking the fourth grade MAP assessment had an average passing score. This is positive academic progress for both groups, since neither group had a Proficient score on the third grade exam.

Assumptions and Limitations

For the purposes of this study, several assumptions concerning the instruments and personnel were made. The DIAL-3 and the MAP tests have been evaluated in multiple studies to show the validity and reliability of these assessments to measure areas of achievement and development (DESE, 1999; Mardell-Czudnowski & Goldenburg, 1998). Scores from these assessments were assumed to be valid measures of academic growth, due to the reliability and validity measurements reported for the MAP and the DIAL-3.

A second assumption was that the Eagle School District hired qualified individuals to teach as parent educators in the Eagle's Parents as Teachers Program and to teach in the five elementary schools in the school district. It was also assumed that all parent educators, DIAL-3 implementers, and MAP administrators were trained to administer their respective assessments in an educationally qualified manner. It was assumed that the parent educators implemented the *Born to Learn Curriculum* (2005) during every PAT home visit. Another assumption was that the DIAL-3 implementers and MAP administrators followed the test protocols to effectively standardize the administration of both tests.

Elementary schools within the Eagle School District were presumed to have taken part in the MAP assessments as required by Missouri statutes. It was also assumed that the Eagle School District would provide access to the testing data and support as deemed necessary for the research. In a causal-comparative study, lack of randomization, manipulation, and control are limitations to the study (Gay, Mills, & Airasian, 2009). To illustrate that an early childhood program increases academic achievement, the DIAL-3 screening and Communication Arts MAP tests were used in this study, but each assessment has the limitation of unrestrained variables. In an attempt to control for extraneous variables, students who participated in the PAT program were matched with students who did not experience the PAT program on three factors: socioeconomic status, gender, and ethnicity (Gall, Gall, & Borg, 2007). By matching students on three factors, confounding variables were endeavored to be controlled in the study. The students in the research were also matched with a student in their current grade to limit extraneous variables due to differences in age with the two different grades that were used in this study.

A second limitation to the study was that archival data was used. Archival data may have been recorded incorrectly causing the data to indicate inaccurate results. If the incorrect data was recorded, incorrect scores were retrieved. To prevent discrepancies with archival data in sampling one grade level, two grade levels were used in the study. In an effort to control for variations that occur in grade levels achievement, two classes were sampled on the same assessments.

Since attendance information was only recorded and not used as a matching characteristic for Eagle pre-Kindergarten participation, unknown preschool experiences are a third limitation of this study. Archival data for pre-Kindergarten participation in the Eagle School District can be retrieved from each student's permanent file, but participation in any other program such as Head Start, private preschool, or religious preschool was not known for the research. Inconsistent administration of the DIAL-3, MAP test, and the PAT program by teachers and parent educators may have affected the validity of this research project. The administration of the third and fourth grade MAP Communication Arts tests was supervised by many classroom and special education teachers in the Eagle School District. Different administration of the MAP test can affect scores. Parent educators in the PAT Program were all trained in the *Born to Learn Curriculum* (2005), but implementation of the lesson plans can vary due to the parent educator. This potential variation was seen as a limitation to this study.

Matching for participation in special services was not included in this study, so students were not statistically controlled if they participated in special services in the Eagle School District. Students with an Individualized Education Plan (IEP) may have been paired with a student who did not participate in the program. Due to this limitation, low cognitively performing children may have been matched with a cognitively higher peer. Matching on socioeconomic, gender, and ethnicity characteristics was used to limit threats to validity, but the scores reported in the study might not truly represent the effect of the PAT program due to the unconstrained variables.

All previous quantitative studies on the PAT Program were conducted at the state level, so it is important that studies be performed on one school district. This study allows school districts the ability to evaluate their own PAT program for its impact on their students in the school district. The research was thus limited to one school district and the students in that school district, and only generalizable to this population.

Discussion

A consideration for the study is that all students who had a DIAL-3 score, a MAP Communication Arts third-grade score, and a MAP Communication Arts fourthgrade score and could be matched on three variables were included in the study. Children were not excluded from the study because of academic or cognitive ability. It is not known if there was a higher representation of children with special needs in the PAT group. Due to the mandate in the Economic Opportunity Act of 1965, school districts must screen and give services to children with special needs. To meet this mandate, when families of children with special needs are identified, the school district offered the Parents as Teachers program to these families. Therefore, the PAT group may have included more children with special needs than the non-PAT group, possibly lowering the PAT participants' mean score.

The results from this study also showed that on the DIAL-3, the MAP Communication Arts third grade test, and the MAP Communication Arts fourth grade test, every mean score was higher for the children who participated in PAT. Due the nature of a causal-comparative study, the conclusion cannot be drawn that the PAT program was responsible for the higher scores. However increasing Communication Arts scores is a goal for the Eagle School District, so the positive academic findings of this study may encourage the administration to continue use of the program.

With the implementation on NCLB, schools must prove that students are meeting grade competencies in Communication Arts and that those skills are either proficient or not proficient for the specified grade (NCLB, 2008). To increase the time for intervention, many schools are utilizing the PAT Program so that children have more

exposure to master skills in literacy. With the NCLB legislation tying monetary funds and school survival, schools must implement programs that effect the most academic impact on the school district's students. In NCLB, educators are also supposed to use research driven curriculum and strategies to enhance academic improvement in the school (NCLB, 2008).

Implications and Recommendations

The Eagle School District should do further review of the PAT program to clarify if there is a significant difference in academic achievement for participants in the program. The Eagle School District should also assess the effects of the PAT program on children's emotional, social, and physical skills. The PAT program's approach to teaching children is to focus on the whole child. These skills may be positively affected by the PAT program. If the program is shown to be continually ineffective, the school administration may need to restructure preschool funds to more effective, researchproven interventions.

To build upon the current research, future studies should either add participation in special services as a matching characteristic or as an independent variable. Special services with Individualized Education Plan (IEP) similarities should be paired to understand if children with similar learning needs perform differently after participation or non-participation in the PAT program. This matching might yield different results than this study due to the researcher controlling for special service differences in children.

A longitudinal study to follow both a PAT group of students and a non-PAT group of students throughout their preschool through high school academic careers would

be beneficial since no other research has employed that approach. All other PAT quantitative research compared PAT students to the average scores on assessments with others in the state of Missouri. The comparison contains PAT students' scores in both statistics. By having separate groups, research could show if there are differences between the two groups.

In addition, further research by private researchers should be conducted on the PAT program. The limited number of studies that have been conducted on the PAT program have been performed by departments of education which also fund the PAT program. Additional studies by independent researchers could either support or refute the findings in this study

Conclusion

The mandates of NCLB require that all children be able to read on grade level by the end of third grade. With a limited number of school years to effect this change, school districts must employ the use of research-proven, effective programs. The research in this study indicated that there was no significant difference on the DIAL-3 composite, MAP Communication Arts third grade, or MAP Communication Arts fourth grade mean scores for students participating in the Eagle School District's PAT program when compared with students not participating. Additional studies should be conducted at the Eagle School District on academic, social, and physical skills and in other districts with PAT programs to either validate or refute these results. These results should be used to determine if the PAT program should continue in Missouri.

REFERENCES

- Ainsworth, M. D. S., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E., & Wall, S. (1978). Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of strange situation. Hillsdale, N.J.: Lawrence Earlbaum.
- Albrecht, M., Haffner, A, & Kostelc, J. (2005). *Born to Learn Curriculum: Prenatal to Three Years of Age*. St. Louis, MO: Parents As Teachers National Center-Inc.
- Andrews, S. P., & Slate, J. R. (2002). Public and private prekindergarten programs: A comparison of student readiness. *Education Research Quarterly*, 25(3), 59-74.
- Annie E. Casey Foundation. (2010). Marion County Data. *Kids Count Data Center*. Retrieved from <u>http://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/bystate/stateprofile.aspx?state=MO&group=A</u> <u>ll&loc=4212&dt=1%2c3%2c2%2c4</u>
- Arnold, D., Fisher, P., Doctoroff, G., & Dobbs, J. (2002). Accerlerating math development in Head Start classrooms. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 94, 762-770.
- Baker, B. L., & Feinfeld, K. A. (2003). Early intervention. Current Opinions in Psychiatry, 16(5), 503-509.
- Barnett, W. S. (1995). Long-term effects of early childhood programs on cognitive and school outcomes. *The Future of Children*, *5*, 25-50.
- Barnett, W. S. & Masse, L. N. (2007). Comparative benefit-cost analysis of the Abecedarian program and its policy implications. *Economics of Education Review*, 26, 113-125.

- Barnes, K. E. (1982). Preschool screening: The measurement and prediction of children at-risk. Springfield, II: Thomas.
- Beatty, B. (1995). Preschool education in America: The culture of young children from the Colonial era to the present. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Belsky, J., Booth-LaForce, C. L., Bradley, C., Burchinal, M., Campbel, S.B...Weinraub,
 M. (2005). Pathways to Reading: The Role of Oral Language in the Transition to
 Reading. *Developmental Psychology*, 41(2), 428-442.
- Bishop-Josef, S. J., & Zigler, E., (2011). The cognitive /academic emphasis versus the whole child approach: The 50-year debate. In E. Zigler, W. Gilliam, & S. Barnett (Eds.), *Current Debates and Issues in Pre-Kindergarten Education* (pp. 83-88).
 Baltimore: Brookes Publishing.
- Bowlby, J. (1983). *Attachment and loss: Volume 1 Attachment* (2nd ed.). New York: Basic Books.
- Boyle, C. A., Boulet, S., Schieve, L. A., Cohen, R. A., Blumberg, S. J., Yeargin-Allsopp,
 M., Visser, S., & Kogan, M. D. (2011). Trends in the prevalence of developmental disabilities in US children 1997-2008. *Pedicatrics*, 127(6), 1034-1042.
- Bridges, M., Fuller, B. C., Rumberger, R., & Tran, L. (2004). Preschool benefits for
 California's children: Promising benefits, unequal access. *PACE Policy Brief*, 04-*3*, Berkeley, CA: Policy Analysis for California Education (PACE).
- Brooks-Gunn, J. (2003). Do you believe in magic? What we can expect from childhood intervention programs? *SRCD Social Policy Report*, *1*, 3-14.
- Bracey, G. W. (2007). Preschool education: Complications all over. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 88(10), 795-796.

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Brotman, L. M., Caldaza, E., Keng-Yen, H., Kingston S., Dawson-McClure, S., Kamboukos, D., Rosenfelt, A., Schwab, A., & Petkova, E. (2011). Promoting effective parenting practices and preventing child behavior problems in school among ethnically diverse families from underserved, urban communities. *Child Development*, 82(1), 258-276.
- Brown, W. H., & Conroy, M. A. (2002). Promoting peer-related social-communicative competence in preschool children. In S.F. Warren & J. Reichle (Series editor) & H. Goldstein, L.A. Kaczmarek, & K.M. English. (Vol. Eds.) *Communication and language intervention series: Vol. 10. Promoting social communication: Children with developmental disabilities from birth to adolescence* (pp.173-210). Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes.
- Burke, L. (2010). More government preschool: An expensive and unnecessary middle class subsidy. *The Heritage Foundation*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.heritage.org/research/reports/2010/03/more-government-preschool-an-expensive-and-unnecessary-middle-class-subsidy</u>
- Campbell, F. A., Helms, R., Sparling, J. J., & Ramey, C. T.(1998). Early childhood programs and success in school. In W. S. Barnett, & S. S. Boocock (Eds.), *Early care and education for children in poverty* (pp. 145–166). New York: SUNY Press.

- Campbell, F. A., & Ramey, C. T. (1994). Effects of early intervention on intellectual and academic achievement: A follow-up study of children from low-income families. *Child Development*, 65(2), 684–689.
- Campbell, D. & Stanley, J. (1963). *Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for research*. Chicago, IL: Rand-McNally.
- Cohen, D. L. (1991). Home visits seen as key strategy to combat a host of childhood woes. *Education Week*, 1-24.
- Conover, W. J., Johnson, M. E., & Johnson, M. M. (1981). A comparative study of tests for homogeneity of variances, with applications to the outer continental shelf bidding data. *Technometrics*, 23, 351–361.
- Coolahan, K., Fantuzzo, J., Mendez, J., & McDermott, P. (2000). Preschool peer interactions and readiness to learn: Relationships between classroom peer play and learning behaviors and conduct. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 92(3), 458-465.
- CTB McGraw Hill. (2010). *Missouri Assessment Program grade level assessment: Technical report 2010.* Retrieved from <u>http://dese.mo.gov/divimprove/assess/tech/documents/asmt-gl-2010-tech-</u> <u>report.pdf</u>
- Cunha, F., & Heckman, J. J. (2010) *Investing in our young people*. (NBER Working Paper No. 16201). Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
 Retrieved February 27, 2012 from http://www.nber.org/papers/w16201.pdf
- Cumming, G., & Finch, S. (2005). Inference by eye: Confidence intervals, and how to read pictures of data. *American Psychologist*, *60*, 170–180.

- Currie, J., & Thomas, D. (1999). Does Head Start help Hispanic children? *Journal of Public Economics*, 74, 235-262.
- Delaney, H. D., & Vargha, A. (2000). Proceedings from the Annual Meeting of American Research Association: *The effect of nonnormality on student's twosample T test*. New Orleans, LA: ARA.

Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). (1999). School entry assessment project: Report of findings. Retrieved from

http://dese.mo.gov/divimprove/fedprog/earlychild/seap.pdf

Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). (2000). Score use, meaningfulness, and dependability. Retrieved from

http://dese.mo.gov/divimprove/fedprog/discretionarygrants/ReadingFirst/DMAP.

Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). (2008). Missouri

assessment program: Interpreting results. Retrieved from:

http://dese.mo.gov/divimprove/assess/2008_gir.pdf

Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). (2010a). District Profile:

Eagle School District. Retrieved from

http://dese.mo.gov/schooldata/profile/p5064075.txt

Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). (2010b). Program

guidelines and administrative manual. Retrieved from

http://www.dese.mo.gov/divimprove/fedprog/earlychild/ECDA/documents/ECD

AProgramGuidelines.pdf

- Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). (2011a). *MAP examiner's manual: Grade 3 communication arts and mathematic assessment Spring 2011.* Retrieved from: <u>http://dese.mo.gov/divimprove/assess/documents/asmt-gl-em03-2011.pdf</u>
- Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). (2011b). *MAP examiner's manual: Grade 4 communication arts and mathematic assessment Spring 2011*. Retrieved from: http://dese.mo.gov/divimprove/assess/documents/asmt-gl-em04-2011.pdf
- Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). (2011c). *Program gradelevel assessment: Guide to interpreting results*. Retrieved from http://dese.mo.gov/divimprove/assess/documents/asmt-gl-gir-spring-2011.pdf
- Drotar, D., Robinson, J., Jeavons, L., & Kirchner, H. L. (2008). A randomized, controlled evaluation of early intervention: the Born to Learn curriculum. *Child: care, health and development, 35*(5), 643-649.
- Duncan, G. J., Dowsett, C. J., Classens, A., Magnuson, K., Huston, A.C., Klebanov,
 P.,...Japel, C. (2007). School readiness and later achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 43(6), 1428-1446.

The Economic Opportunity Act (EOA), Pub. L. No.88-452, 42 U.S.C. 2701 (1964).

- The Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA), Pub. L. No. 89-10, 20 U.S.C. 1400 (1965).
- Fantuzzo, J., McWayne C., Perry, M. A., & Childs, S. (2004a). Multiple dimensions of family involvement and their relations to behavioral and learning competencies for urban, low-income children. *School Psychology Review*, 33, 467-480.

- Fantuzzo, J., Perry, M., & McDermott, P. (2004b). Preschool approaches to learning and their relationship to other relevant classroom competencies for low-income children. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 19, 212-230.
- Fulmer, A. (1997). Parents decision-making stratigies when selecting child care: Effects of parental awareness, experience, and education. *Child and Youth Care Forum* 26(6), 391-409.
- Gall, M. D., Gall, J. P., & Borg, W. R. (2007). *Educational research: An introduction*.Boston: Pearson/Allyn & Bacon.
- Gartland, D., & Strosnider, R. (2007). Learning disabilities and young children: Identification and intervention. *Learning Disability Quarterly, 30*(1), 63-72.
- Gay, L. R., Mills, G. E., & Airasian, P. W. (2009). Educational research: Competencies for analysis and applications. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Gilliam, W. S., & Zigler, E. (2001). A critical meta-analysis of all evaluations of statefunded preschool from 1977 to 1998: Implications for policy, service delivery and program evaluation. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 15, 441-473.
- Goals 2000: Educate America Act, Pub. L. No. 103-227 (1994).
- Gormley, W. T., & Gayer, T. (2005). Promoting school readiness in Oklahoma. *The Journal of Human Resources*, 40(3), 533-558.
- Gormley, W., Gayer, T., Phillips, D., & Dawson, B. (2005). The effects of universal pre-K on cognitive development. *Devlopmental Psychology*, *41*(6), 872-884.
- Gormley, W. T., Phillips, D., & Gayer, T. (2008). Preschool programs can boost school readiness. *Science*, *320*, 1723–24.

- Gravetter, F. J., & Wallnau, L. B. (1985). Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences. St. Paul, MN: West Publishing Company, 1985.
- Green, G., Brennan, L.C., & Fein, D. (2002). Intensive behavioral treatment for a toddler at high risk for autism. *Behavioral Modification*, *26*, 60-102.
- Gullo, D.F., & Burton, C.B. (1992). Age of entry, preschool experience, and sex as antecedents of academic readiness in kindergarten. *Early Childhood Quarterly*, 7(2), 175-186.
- Gunnar, M. (2001). Effects of early deprivation: Findings from orphanage-reared infants and children. In C. Nelson & M. Luciana (Eds.), *Handbook of developmental cognitive neuroscience* (pp. 617-630). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Harris, S. L., & Handleman, J. S. (2000). Age and IQ at intake as predictors of placement for young children with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 30, 137-142.
- Hart, B., & Risley, T. R. (1995). Meaningful differences in the everyday experience of young American children. Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes Publishing.
- Hart, B., & Risley, T. (2003). The early catastrophe. American Educator 27(4), 6-9.
- Hebbeler, K. M., & Gerlach-Downie, S. G. (2002). Inside the black box of home visiting: a qualitative analysis of why intended outcomes were not achieved. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 17, 28-51.
- Heckman, J. J. (2010). Effective child development strategies. In E. Zigler, W. S.Gilliam, & W.S. Barnett (Eds.), *The pre-K debates: Current controversies and issues* (pp. 2-8). Baltimore: Brookes.

- Henry, G., Gordon, C., Mashburn, A., & Ponder, B. (2001). Pre-K Longitudinal Study: Findings from the 1999–2000 School Year. Atlanta: Georgia State University, Applied Research Center.
- Henry, G. T. & Rickman, D. K. (2007). Do peers influence children's skill development in preschool? *Economics of Education Review*, *26*, 100-112.
- Hollingsworth, H. L. (2005). Interventions to promote peer social interactions in preschool settings. *Young Exceptional Children*, *9*(1), 2-20.
- Hodges, J., & Tizard, B. (1989). Social and family relationships of ex-institutional adolescents. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *30*, 77-90.
- Howse, R. Calkins, S., Anastopoulos, A., Keane, S., & Shelton, T. (2003). Regulatory contributions to children's kindergarten achievement. *Early Education & Development*, 14, 109-119.
- Hutcheson, J. J., Black, M. M., Talley, M. Dubowitz, H., Howard, J. B., Star, R. H., & Thompson, B. S. (1997). Risk status and home intervention among children with Failure-to-Thrive: Follow-Up at age 4, *Journal of Pediatric Psychology 22(5)*, 651-668.
- Hyun, E. (2003). What does the No Child Left Behind Act mean to early childhood teacher educators?: A call for a collective professional rejoinder. *Early Childhood Education Journal 31*(2), 119-125.
- Iowa Department of Education. (2011). *Statewide voluntary preschool program for fouryear-old children*. Retrieved from: <u>www.iowa.gov/educate</u>.
- Ivory, J. J., & McCollum, J. A. (1999). Effects of social and isolate toys on social play in an inclusive setting. *The Journal of Special Education*, 32, 238-243.

Jensen, E. (2005). Teaching with the brain in mind (2nd ed.). Alexandria, VA: ASCD.

- Johnson, D. L. (2006). Parent-Child Development Center Follow-up Project: Child Behavior Problem Results. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 27(4), 391-407.
- Johnson, D. L., & Breckenridge, J. N. (1982). The Houston Parent-Child Development Center and primary prevention of behavior problems of young children. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 10(3), 305-316.
- Johnson, D. L., & Walker, T. (1987). The primary prevention of behavior problems in Mexican-American children. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 15(4), 375-385.
- Kagan, S. L. (2003). Children's readiness for school: Issue in assessment. International Journal of Early Childhood, 35(1-2), 114-120.
- Kamerman, S., & Gatenio, S. (2003). Overview of current policy context. In D. Cryer &R. Clifford (Eds.) Early childhood education and care in the United States.Baltimore, MD: Brookes Publishing Co.
- Kerstjens, J. M., Bos, A. F., ten Vergent, E. M. J., de Meer, G., Butcher, P. R., &
 Reijneveld, S. A. (2009). Support for the global feasibility of the Ages and Stages
 Questionnaire as developmental screener. *Early Human Development*, 85(7), 443-447.
- Korfmacher, J., Green, B., Staerkel, F., Peterson, C., Cook, G., Roggman, L., Faldowski,
 & R.A., Schiffman, R. (2008). Parent involvement in early childhood home visiting. *Child Youth Care Forum 37*(4), 177-196.

- LaForett, D. R., & Mendez, J. L. (2010). Parent involvement, parental depression, and program satisfaction among low-income parents participating in a two-generation early childhood education program. *Early Education and Development*, 21(4), 517-535.
- Lamb, M. (1996). Effects of nonparental child care on child development: An update. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 41, 330-342.
- Loeb, S., Bridges, M., Bassok, D., Fuller, B., & Rumberger, R. W. (2007). How much is too much? The influence of preschool centers on children's social and cognitive development. *Economics of Education Review*, 26, 52-66.
- Lonigan, C. J., & Whitehurst, G. J. (1998). Relative efficacy of parent and teacher involvement in a shared-reading intervention for preschool children from lowincome backgrounds. *Early Research Quarterly*, *13*(2), 263-290.
- Magnuson, K. A., Ruhm, C., & Waldfogel, J. (2007). Does kindergarten improve school preparation and performance. *Economics of Education Review*, *26*, 33-51.
- Marcenko, M. O., Spence, M., & Samost, L. (1996). Outcomes of a home visitation trial for pregnant and postpartum at-risk for child placement. *Children and Youth Services*, 18(3), 243-259.
- Marcon, R.A. (1999). Positive relationships between parent school involvement and public inner-city preschoolers' development and academic performance. *School Psychology Review*, 28, 395-412.
- Mardell-Czudnowski, C., & Goldenburg, D. S. (1998). *Developmental Indicators for the Assessment of Learning* (3rd ed.). Bloomington, MN: Pearson Assessments.

- McCabe, J. R., Jenkins, J. R., Mills, P. E., Dale, P. S., & Cole, K. N. (1999). Effects of group composition, materials, and developmental level on play in preschool children with disabilities. *Journal of Early Intevention*, 22, 164-178.
- McGee, G. G., Daly, T., Izeman, S. G., Mann, L. H., & Risley, T. R. (1991). Use of classroom materials to promote preschool engagement. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 23(4), 43-47.
- McWayne, C. M., Green, L. E., & Fantuzzo, J. W. (2009). A variable and personoriented investigation of preschool competencies and Head Start Children's Transition to Kindergarten and First Grade. *Applied Developmental Science*, *13*(1), 1-15.
- Meisels, S. J. (1988). Developmental Screening in Early Childhood: The Interaction of Research and Social Policy. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *9*(1), 527-550.
- Micceri, T. (1989). The unicorn, the normal curve, and other improbable creatures. *Psychological Bulletin, 105,* 156-166.
- Morrison, C. K., & Bryant, F. B. (1998). Predicting kindergarten academic skills: Interactions among child care, maternal education, and family literacy environments. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 13(3), 501-521.
- National Center for Educational Statistics. (2010). *Digest of Educational Statistics*. Retrieved from <u>http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d10/tables/dt10_052.asp</u>
- National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers. (2010). *Common Core State Standards*. Washington, D.C.: National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers.

- Nelson, C. (2000). Neural plasticity and human development: The role of early experience in sculpting memory systems. *Developmental Science*, *3*, 115-137.
- Niles, M. D., Reynolds, A. J., & Roe-Sepowitz, D. (2008): Early childhood intervention and early adolescent social and emotional competence: second-generation evaluation evidence from the Chicago Longitudinal Study, Educational Research, 50:1, 55-73.

No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB), 20 U.S.C. § 6319 (2008).

- O'Brien-Strain, M., Moye, L., & Sonestein, F. L. (2003). *Arranging and paying for child care*. San Francisco, CA: Public Policy Institute of California.
- Office of Administration. (2009). *Department of Elementary and Secondary education: Financial summary*. Retrieved from: <u>http://oa.mo.gov/bp/budg2009/DESE.pdf</u>
- Office of Administration. (2010). Department of Elementary and Secondary education: Financial summary. Retrieved from: <u>http://oa.mo.gov/bp/budg2010/DESE.pdf</u>
- Office of Administration. (2011). Department of Elementary and Secondary education: Financial summary. Retrieved from: http://oa.mo.gov/bp/budg2011/DESE.pdf
- Office of Administration. (2012). Department of Elementary and Secondary education: Financial summary. Retrieved from: <u>http://oa.mo.gov/bp/budg2012/DESE.pdf</u>
- Olea, R. A., & Pawlowsky-Glahn, V. (2009). Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for spatially correlated data. *Stochastic Environmental Research and Risk Assessment*, 29(6), 749-757.
- Olson, M., & Hyson, M. (2005). NAEYC explores parental perspectives on early childhood education. *YC Young Children*, *60*(3), 66-68.

- Onchwari, G., & Keengwe, J. (2009). Teacher mentoring and early literacy learning: A case study of a mentor-coach intiative. *Early Childhood Education Journal 37*(4), 311-317.
- Ou, S. R, & Reynolds, A. J. (2006). Early childhood intervention and educational attainment: Age 22 findings from the Chicago longitudinal study. *Journal of Education for Students Placed At Risk*, 11(2), 175-198.
- Owen, M. T., & Mulvihill, B. A. (1994). Benefits of a parent education and support program in the first three years. *Family Relations*, *43*(2), 206-212.
- Parents as Teachers National Center (PATNC). (2005). *The born to learn curriculum: Prenatal to 3 years of age.* St. Louis, MO: Parents as Teachers National Center.
- Parents as Teachers National Center (PATNC). (2010). *What we do: Vision-mission history*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.parentsasteachers.org/about/what-we-</u> <u>do/visionmission-history</u>.
- Perry, B. (1997). Incubated in terror: Neurodevelopmental factors in the "cycle of violence." In J. Osofsky (Ed.), *Children in a violent society* (pp.124-149). New York: Guilford Press.
- Pfannenstiel, J. C., Lambson, T., & Yarnell, V. (1991). Second wave study of the Parents as Teachers Program. St. Louis, MO: Parents as Teachers National Center.
- Pfannenstiel, J. C., Lambson, T., & Yarnell, V. (1996). The Parents as Teachers Program: Longitudinal follow-up to the second wave study. Overland Park, KS: Research and Training Associates.
- Pfannenstiel, J. C., Seitz, V., & Zigler, E. (2003). Promoting school readiness: The role of the Parents as Teachers program. *NHSA Dialog, 6*, 71-86.

Pfannenstiel, J. C., & Seltzer, D.A. (1989). New Parents as Teachers: Evaluation of an early parent education program. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *4*, 1-18.

Piaget, J. (1932). Play, dreams, and imitation. New York: Norton.

Piaget, J. (1965). The Moral Judgment of the Child. New York: Free Press.

- Ramey, C. T., & Ramey, S. L. (1998). Prevention of intellectual disabilities: Early interventions to improve cognitive development. *Preventive Medicine*, 27, 224– 232.
- Reardon, S. (2003). Sources of inequality: The growth of racial/ethnic and socioeconomic test score gaps in kindergarten and first grade. State College, PA: Penn State University (Manuscript).
- Reynolds, A. J. (2000). Success in early intervention: The Chicago Child-Parent Centers. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.
- Reynolds, A. J., Matheison, L. C., & Topitzes, J. W. (2007). Do early childhood interventions prevent maltreatment? A research review. *Child Maltreatment*, 14(2), 182-206.
- Reynolds, A. J., Ou, S. R., & Topitzes, J. W. (2004). Paths of effects of early childhood intervention on educational attainment and delinquency: A confirmatory analysis of the Chicago Child-Parent centers. *Child Development*, 75, 1299-1338.
- Reynolds, A. J., & Temple, J. A. (2008). Cost-effective early childhood development programs from preschool to third grade. *Annual Review Clinical Psychology*, 4, 109-139.

- Reynolds, A. J., Temple, J. A., Ou, S. R., Robertson, D. L. Mersky, J. P., Topitez, J. W., & Niles, M. D. (2007). Effects of a school-based, early childhood intervention on adult health and well-being. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, *161*(8), 730-739.
- Reynolds, A. J., Temple, J. A., Robertson, D. L., & Mann, E. A. (2002). Age 21 costbenefit analysis of the Title I chicago Child-Parent Centers. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis 24*(4), 267-303.
- Reynolds, A. J., Temple, J. A., White, B. A., Ou, S. R., & Robertson, D. L. (2011). Age 26 cost-benefit analysis of the child-parent center early education program. *Child Development* 82(1), 379-404.
- Rolnick, A., & Grunewald, R. (2010). The economic case for targeted preschool programs. In E. Zigler, W. S. Gilliam, & W. S. Barnett (Eds.), *The pre-k debates: current controversies and issues* (pp. 22-26). Baltimore: Brookes.
- Rushton, S. P., Eitelgeorge, J., & Zickafoose, R. (2003). Connecting Brian Cambourne's Conditions of Learning Theory to Brain/Mind Principles: Implications for early childhood educators. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 31(1), 11-21.
- Rushton, S., Juola-Rushton, A., & Larkin, E. (2010). Neuroscience, play, and early childhood education: Connections, implications and assessment. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 37, 351-361.
- Sarama, J., & Clements, D. H. (2009). Teaching math in the primary grades: The learning trajectories approach. *Young Children*, 64, 63-65.
- Schorr, L., & Schorr, D. (1988). Within our reach: Breaking the cycle of disadvantage. New York: Anchor Press/Doubleday.

- Schweinhart, L. J., & Weikart, D. P. (1983). The effects of the Perry Preschool program on youths through age 15: A summary. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Ed.), *As the twig is bent: Lasting effects of preschool programs* (pp. 71–101). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Schweinhart, L. J., & Weikart, D. P. (1997). Lasting differences: The High/Scope preschool curriculum comparison study through age 23. *Early Childhood Research*, 12, 117-143.

Siegel, D. (1999). The developing mind. New York: Guilford Press.

- Singer, J. L. (2002). Cognitive and affective implications of imaginative play in childhood. In M. Lewis (Ed.), *Child and adolescent psychiatry: A comprehensive textbook* (3rd ed., pp. 252-263). Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Spagnola, K. (2009). Assessing the stability of the predictive validity of age of entry and the Developmental Indicators for the Assessment of Learning — Third Edition (DIAL-3) on school achievement. (Doctoral dissertation). Dissertations & Theses: Full Text. (Publication No. AAT 3370903).
- Steinskog, D. J., Tjostheim, D. S., & Kvamsto, N. G. (2007). A cautionary note on the use of the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for normality. *Monthly Weather Review*, 135, 1151-1157.
- Storch, S. A., & Whitehurst, G. J. (2002). Oral-language and code-related precursors to reading:Evidence from a longitudinal structural model. *Developmental Psychology*, 38(6), 934-947.

- St. Pierre, R. G., & Layzer, J. I. (1999). Using home visits for multiple purposes: The Comprehensive Child Development Program. *The Future of Children*, 9(1), 134-150.
- Strand, P. S., Cerna, S., & Skucy, J. (2007). Assessment and decision-making in early Childhood education and intervention. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 16(2), 209-218.
- Stipek, D. (2006). No Child Left Behind comes to preschool. *Elementary School Journal*, 106(5), 455-465.
- Sweet, M. A., & Appelbaum, M. J. (2004). Is home visiting an effective strategy? A meta-analytic review of home visiting programs for families with young children. *Child Devlopment 75*(5), 1435-1456.
- Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., Uzgiris, I. C., & Bornstein, M. (2002). Play in parent-child interactions. In M. Bornstein (Ed.) *Handbook of parenting: Practical issues in parenting* (pp. 221-242). Mahwah, N.J.: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Taylor, K. K., Gibbs, A. S., & Slate, J. R. (2000). Preschool attendance and kindergarten readiness. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 27(3), 191-195.
- Temple, J. A., & Reynolds, A. J. (2007). Benefits and costs of investments in preschool education: Evidence from Child-Parent Centers and related programs. *Economics* of Education Review, 26, 126-144.
- United States Census Bureau. (2010). Population Finder: Eagle, MO. American Fact Finder. Retrieved from http://2010.census.gov/2010census/data/
- United States Department of Education (2004). *Four pillars of NCLB*. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/nclb/overview/intro/4pillars.html

- United States Department of Health and Human Services. (2011). State leadership
 workshops on improving EPSDT through Medicaid and Title V collaboration.
 Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Vail, C. O., & Elmore, S. R. (2011). Tips for teachers selecting toys to facilitate social interaction. NHSA Dialog, 14(1), 37-40.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: Development of higher psychological processes*.Cole, M., John-Steiner, V., Scribner, S., Souberman, E. Cambridge, (Eds.)MA: Harvard University Press.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1994). Thought and language. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Wagner, M. M., & Clayton, S. L. (1999). The Parents as Teachers Program: Results from two demonstrations, *The Future of Children 9*(1), 91-115.
- Webb, N. L. (2006). Alignment analysis of communication arts standards and assessments: Missouri grades 3-8 and 11, 2006-2007. Retrieved from http://dese.mo.gov/divimprove/assess/tech/align_ca_rpt_final_06.pdf
- White, B. L. (1971). *Human infants: Experience and psychological development*. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall.
- White, B. L. (1985). The first three years of life. New York: Prentice-Hall.
- White, B. L. (1988). Educating the infant and toddler. Lexington, MA: D. C. Heath.
- Whyte, J. C. & Bull, R. (2008). Number games, magnitude representation, and basic number skills in preschoolers. *Developmental Psychology*, 44(2), 588-596.

Winter, M. (1985). Parents as first teachers. Principal, 64(5), 22-24.
- Woolfolk, T. A., & Unger, D. G. (2009). Relationships between low-income African American mothers and their home visitors: A Parents as Teachers Program. *Family Relations*, 58, 188-200.
- Zhang, G. (2009). *t* test: The good, the bad, the ugly, and the remedy. *Middle Grades Research Journal*, *4*(2), 25-34.
- Zigler, E., Pfannenstiel, J. C., & Seitz, V. (2008). The Parents as Teachers Program and school success: A replication and extension. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 29, 103-104.
- Zigler, E., & Valentine, J. (Eds.). (1979). Project head start: A legacy of the war on poverty. New York: The Free Press.

APPENDIX A: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL



The Graduate School at Liberty University

December 8, 2011

Jill Arnold

IRB Approval 1220.120811: The Parents as Teachers Program in Missouri and the Resulting Difference in Academic Effects for Fifth and Sixth Grade Students

Dear Jill,

We are pleased to inform you that your above study has been approved by the Liberty IRB. This approval is extended to you for one year. If data collection proceeds past one year, or if you make changes in the methodology as it pertains to human subjects, you must submit an appropriate update form to the IRB. The forms for these cases were attached to your approval email.

Thank you for your cooperation with the IRB and we wish you well with your research project.

Sincerely,

Fernando Garzon, Psy.D. IRB Chair, Associate Professor Center for Counseling & Family Studies

(434) 592-5054

LIBERTY UNIVERSITY, 40 Years of Training Champions for Christ: 1971-2011

APPENDIX B: EAGLE SCHOOL DISTRICT APPROVAL

| | RATIVE OFFICES |
|--|--|
| 4630 Avenue | |
| Telephone: | Fux: |
| | 25 12- |
| Jill Superintendent | Assistant Superintendent |
| Curriculum Director | Business Manager |
| November 17, 2011 | |
| | |
| Mrs. Jill Arnold | |
| 131 Rosewood Dr. | |
| Hannibal, MO 63401 | |
| | |
| Dear Mrs. Arnold: | |
| We have reviewed your receased areased | entitled "The Description Teachers Barrant in |
| the neverences your resource proposal | chubed The Parents as reachers Procham in |
| | |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A | caciemic Effects for Fifth and Sixth Grade Students. |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A | schools has accept to allow the use of our |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that | cademic Effects for Fifth and Sixth Grade Students. Schools has agreed to allow the use of our |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that schools and students as part of your resear | Schools has agreed to allow the use of our rch. Please contact each of the individual elementary |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that schools and students as part of your resear schools and the middle school for data coli | Schools has agreed to allow the use of our schools has agreed to allow the use of our rch. Please contact each of the individual elementar ection information and to schedule appointments to |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that schools and students as part of your resear schools and the middle school for data coll | Schools has agreed to allow the use of our Schools has agreed to allow the use of our rch. Please contact each of the individual elementar action information and to schedule appointments to |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that schools and students as part of your resear schools and the middle school for data coli discuss PAT enroliment with the Special Se | Schools has agreed to allow the use of our Schools has agreed to allow the use of our rch. Please contact each of the individual elementan ection information and to schedule appointments to rvices Office and Free and Reduced Lunch |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that schools and students as part of your resear schools and the middle school for data coll discuss PAT enrollment with the Special Se Information with the Administrative Office. | Schools has agreed to allow the use of our schools has agreed to allow the use of our rch. Please contact each of the individual elementar action information and to schedule appointments to rvices Office and Free and Reduced Lunch s. |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that schools and students as part of your resear schools and the middle school for data coli discuss PAT enroliment with the Special Se information with the Administrative Office. | Schools has agreed to allow the use of our Schools has agreed to allow the use of our rch. Please contact each of the individual elementan ection information and to schedule appointments to rvices Office and Free and Reduced Lunch S. |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that schools and students as part of your resear schools and the middle school for data coll discuss PAT enrollment with the Special Se information with the Administrative Office. | Schools has agreed to allow the use of our Schools has agreed to allow the use of our rch. Please contact each of the individual elementan ection information and to schedule appointments to rvices Office and Free and Reduced Lunch S. |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that schools and students as part of your resear schools and the middle school for data coll discuss PAT enrollment with the Special Se information with the Administrative Office. We look forward to working with you. | Schools has agreed to allow the use of our Schools has agreed to allow the use of our rch. Please contact each of the individual elementar action information and to schedule appointments to rvices Office and Free and Reduced Lunch s. |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that schools and students as part of your resear schools and the middle school for data coli discuss PAT enrollment with the Special Se information with the Administrative Office. We look forward to working with you. | Schools has agreed to allow the use of our Schools has agreed to allow the use of our rch. Please contact each of the individual elementan action information and to schedule appointments to rvices Office and Free and Reduced Lunch S. |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that schools and students as part of your resear schools and the middle school for data coll discuss PAT enrollment with the Special Se information with the Administrative Office. We look forward to working with you. | Schools has agreed to allow the use of our schools has agreed to allow the use of our rch. Please contact each of the individual elementan ection information and to schedule appointments to rvices Office and Free and Reduced Lunch s. |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that schools and students as part of your resear schools and the middle school for data coll discuss PAT enrollment with the Special Se Information with the Administrative Office. We look forward to working with you. | Schools has agreed to allow the use of our schools has agreed to allow the use of our rch. Please contact each of the individual elementan action information and to schedule appointments to rvices Office and Free and Reduced Lunch s. |
| Missouri and the Resulting Difference in A We are pleased to inform you that schools and students as part of your resear schools and the middle school for data coll discuss PAT enrollment with the Special Se information with the Administrative Office. We look forward to working with you. | Schools has agreed to allow the use of our Schools has agreed to allow the use of our rch. Please contact each of the individual elementan action information and to schedule appointments to rvices Office and Free and Reduced Lunch S. |